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Oral History Interview 

with 

PAUL CORBIN 

July 2, 1970 
Nashville, Tennessee 

By Larry J. Hackman 

For the Robert F. Kennedy Oral History Program 
of the Kennedy Library 

HACKMAN: What kind of conversations did you have with 
Robert Kennedy about what you were going to be 
doing during the Administration? 

CORBIN: Well, I'd dealt briefly with that. I read the last 
pages of the transcript with John Stewart. 
[Interruption] 

Bob bugged me every day as to what I was going to do. Of 
course, I went into the episode where I wanted to work for the 
National Parks. And then he really wanted me at the Department 
of Justice. But he was always concerned about possible reper­
cussions because of my association in the labor movement and my 
association with Harry Bridges, which might be misinterpreted. 
Now, he became aware of that in Wisconsin when they had con­
tinously--like [Kenneth P.] Kenny O'Donnell and Ivan Nestigen 
were raising the point. I can recall this was on the Friday 
prior to the Tuesday election. He was in Eau Claire, Wisconsin; 
I was up in Wisconsin rapids getting ready for his vis i t to 
Wisconsin Rapids on Saturday. 

He called me up on Friday in the middle of the night to 
inform me that he'd just got a report that [Hubert H.] Humphrey 
was on "Meet the Press" on Sunday, and he was going to blast 
the hell out of me as being a Communist. And he [Kennedy] 
wanted to ask me if I was or if I was not . I told him it was 
none of his business. And he said, "You don't understand, Paul, 
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I don't care what the hell you are, but I've got to know so I 
can be prepared as to what way we can handle it." I said, 
"Well, I'm going to say this to you only, Bob, because you told 
me you didn't give a shit one way or another." I said, "I am 
not, so I am not so concerned. Furthermore, your brother-in­
law, Steve Smith, told me these rumors had come up almost a 
year ago and your brother, the Senator, had me checked out at 
the FBI [Federal Bureau of Investigation] and I was clean." 
Subsequently, I happened to see that particular report, which 
was true; the FBI investigation had cleared me, going to the 
extent of even saying I was 100 percent American and a loyal 
activist on veteran affairs and patriotic activities. John 
Siegenthaler showed me that report when he was in the Depa~tment 
of Justice. So I said, "The answer is no. Don't worry about 
it." He said, " I want to talk to you about it when I see you 
tomorrow up there in Wisconsin Rapids." I said, "Okay, we'll 
talk about it." 

I had been, in Wisconsin, very close to Governor [Gaylord 
A.] Nelson, had been the chairman of his draft committee which 
drafted him for governor. I was very close to him and was his 
fund raiser when he was the governor of the state. I had open 
access to him all the time, was a very close friend of his. I 
knew that although he played it neutral, he was for Humphrey. 
So I called Gaylord Nelson, who was governor, and told him I 
understood that they were going to blast me on "Meet the Press." 
I said, "It isn't nice for you who have a whole political future 
ahead of you, Gaylord. They will kill you on this thing. I was 
chairman of your draft committee and have been associated with ] 
y ou. I picked up checks all across the state as your fund rais-
er, did all those things . . How the hell are you going to explain 
me? You'd better get to Humphrey for your sake and call the dogs . 
off• II 

"I'll take care of this crap. Don't worry about it, Carbine" 
--he used to call me Carbine--"Don't worry. That's witch-hunting 
McCarthyism. I'm opposed to it and will call Humprhey and pre­
sent it on a principled basis. He's a nice guy, you know"-­
meaning Humprhey.--"Don't worry about it." 

Bobby comes to Wisconsin Rapids. They have an open market. 
We started out in Stevens Point, Portage--I forget, Stevens Point 
--oh, Stevens Point, Portage, Wisconsin, right. And he says, 
"Corbin, I'm really concerned about this thing. I'm going to 
ask you again" Were you ever a Communist?'" I said, "Now, god­
dammit, stop bugging me. I told you I wasn't. Don't worry about 
it, Bob." "Why not?" "I've got it all fixed. I just called 
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Gaylord Nelson." "Dammit! What did you do that for?" "Well," 
I said, "b eacuse you were concerned. You called me up in the 
middle of the night." "Listen, you dumb nut. They accuse my 
brother of bei~g pro-McCarthy, that I am pro-McCarthy. Why, 
you're made to order. We need someone who is accused of being 
a Communist and is not to get the liberal vote. Get on that 
damn telephone and tell Gaylord Nelson to keep out of it and 
be neutral." I said, "He's not that stupid." "Get on that 
phone and phone him." "We've got to make the next stop." "The 
hell with the next stop." We stop at a phone. "Get in there." 
I call him. I talk to Gaylord. I said, "Look, Gaylord, let the 
son-of-a-bitch call me a Communist. I'm sick and tired of 
having . " "Corbin, it's stopped. Forget it. Don't worry 
about it." I said, "That was a wasted call. I made a goddam 
fool of myself." "Why?" "They ain't going to put it on." "Sure 
they ain't going to put it on, you dumb fool!" He was sick. 

Going back to what I was going to do in Washington, he 
knew of all that so he said, "Can you stand the FBI check?" I 
said, "Yes, sure. I ain't worried." By that time Kenny O'Donnell 
began to move. Now, you say how do I know it's Kenny O'Donnell. 
Bob Kennedy repeatedly kept telling me. I'd say, "How can 
you permit these things? We can't have them." He says, "Kenny. 
Kenny." "Can't your brother stop it?" "Look, Corbin, these are 
committees. They've got their chairmen. They've got [Francis 
E.] Walter there. Kenny's calling on Walter saying, 'Look 
you're going to do a great service to the President. Get rid of 
this guy. He's Bobby's guy. They're being fooled by him. He's 
wormed his way in. You'll do a great service to your country. 111 

He [Robert Kennedy] would say, "I know, Corbin. I know, I 
know. " Then Bob would say, "I can't help it. " I said, "You mean 
to say you can't stop him?" "Can't do it . I'm afraid myself to 
call Walter." He had Seigenthaler do it. He [Robert Kennedy] 
was frightened. Well, that was later on, of course. 

So about a week after, they started reports and he sa~d, 
"Corbin, you'll never stand up. The goddamn shit that's coming 
in on you. " I said, "What do I do now?" "Democratic 
National Committee." "What am I going to do there?" "Get your 
ass over there!" So I get over there and reported to John 
Bailey. "Oh, my God, not you! I don't want you!" He's on the 
phone calling Kenny O'Donnell. "Got to talk about it." I 
said, "Look, John. " It took over a year and a half to 
two years for Bailey to really sink into his head the tie 
between Bob and I. It took him that long . 
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I'll t ell you a story that's interest ing. I saidi;to 
Bailey}, "Bob wants to talk to you." "Bob who?" "Bob Kennedy. 
Get on that goddamn phone and talk to him!" "I will!" He picks 
up the phone. He [Bailey] says, "Well, I guess I'm stuck with 
you." I'll say one thing £ or the [lrish] mafia: Once they lost 
that battle, they decided they'd cut me in. Kenny calls me, 
"We're having patronage meetings at the Wh ite House." [Richard 
J.] Maguire who was then working [in] the Executive House, Kenny 
O' Donnell--! forgeb who--[Charles D.] Chuck Roche and myself, 
Bailey, [Richard K.] Donahue. John Bailey brings me in and 
Chuck Roche, and Bailey says, "I and Chuck, individually and col­
lectively, speak for the Democratic Committee." And I'm on the 
patronage committee, and this is wherer.make my colossal blunder, 
the greatest political b lunder of my life. We're sittingthere 
and they're talking about appointment of a u.s.--I believe it 
was the legal counsel to the IRS [Internal Revenue Service], 
someone for legal counsel. Arrl they proposed this name, and 
everybody says, "Aye." I said, "Well, I'm not so sure. I vote 
no. I think I'm going to call Bob about _that." And Roche says , 
mYou dumb son-of-a-bitch. When·are you going to cut loose of that 
little bastard. Yai - -Corbin, you're crazy. Here's your goddamn 
chance. They're calling you in: they're cutting you in." I 
said,"Fuck'em. We're checking with Bob." Now, the reason I 
took that position was because I already was involved with Bob 
on chasing the crooks. It dated back to the New York campaign 
with Utica. So I was already knowing what direction he was going 
to work, go as Attorney General. 

Well, I came and I rush over to Bob's office. "I just went 
to the first meeting and they tried to shove this guy in the IRS." 
"You're dumb, dumb, dumb, dumb. You'll never be invited again. 
You're in and you're out Qn one hour, Corbin. Why didn't you 
call me? Why didn't you drop in?" Well, they never invited me 
again, and then the war was on. 

So I went back to the Committee, and of course--! was 
handling patronage for New York. In my previous statement you 
read where Bob had me call every county chairman to send their 
S:uff to me. So they were sending it to me. 

And I have to relate to you one incident which is really 
classic of Bob Kennedy. Peter Crotty, who was the leader in 
Buffalo, a wonderful man and a great liberal, very loyal to the 
Kennedys and a friend of the Ambassador [Joseph P. Kennedy], he 
calls me up. He's coming to Washington. He'd like to see Bob. 
So I called Bob and I sayi;;, "Bob, Peter Crotty's coming. He's 
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staying at the Statler Hilton Hotel.!' "Okay, Corbin. Tomorrow 
morning my black limousine will be in front of the Statler Hil­
ton Hotel. You bring Peter over to my house for breakfast." I 
pick up Peter, drive down in the black limousine. Of course, I 
don't realize--to me Bob was just l i ke having coffee with you 
or my brother or any guy. But to Bhe county chairman, going to 
the Attorney General's in his black limousine, Christ, he was 
getting his nuts off, couldn't believe it, it was like dreamland. 
To me it was - nothing. And there wa s my whole problem. Some of 
the classic blunders I've made--never rea lized that these guys .. 
Like Bob would say, "How much did you collect to bring this guy 
in to see me?" I'd say, "What are you talking about?" I was dumb. 
"What do you mean?" "Oh, nothing, Corbin. You're too dgmb." I 
found out later on I could have got two thousand or five thou­
sand bucks to ten thous a nd from the guys I was running in for 
nothing and picking up theirdinner checks because they were 
Kennedy guys. I loved them a ll. They fought for Kennedy. I 
was buying them drinks. So I brought Peter over.:and we had break­
fast. I don't know if you've ever been in his home at Hickory 
Hill. As you wa lk in, to the right--it's now a sitting room--
at tha t time it wa s a dining room before they remodeled it a nd 
put in this additllnal room. So Peter sits down a rrl Bob sits 
down a nd I sit down. We're having breakfast. The maid serves. 
"Well, Peter," he says, "what can I do for you?" Peter says, 
"I've got about eight or nine jobs I'd like to talk to you 
about, Bob." "Oh, anything you want, Peter. You didn't have to 
come all the way for that. Let's talk about something else. 
Right a fter breakfast I'm taking you over to meet the President, 
take you down to the White House a nd meet him. He would love 
to see you. How about coming down to see my d ad? We'll pick 
you up in the Caroline some weekend a nd bring you on to Hya nnis 
Port, bring you and the Mrs., meet my father." I figured, oh, 
shit, Bob was up to something. I knew Bob was up to something. 
He said, "Now, let's t a lk about these jobs. What do you want? 
Anything you want." "Well, " he says, "there's an SBA [Sma 11 
Business Administration]--it was SBA or Housing, I forget--"di­
rector open in Buffalo. And I have a fine fellow I'd like to 
recommend." RFK: "What's the name?" Peter g a ve him his name. 

''That' s the crook that DeSapio wants in! 11 RFK: "What about it, 
Paul?" I s a id, "Agh." RFK: "Let's put that one a side, Peter." 
Crotty: "We can't put that aside." RFK: "Put it a side tem­
porarily. " Crotty: "Do I get this or don't I?" RFK: "Well, 
there's a little question about that. But go on to the next 
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one. 11 U.S. attorney, U.S • . ~rshal, Veterans' Administration, 
right down the line, every name that oomes up. I said, "Brr, 
Bob. 11 Peter said, "Just a moment, Bob. Who is the leader of 
Erie County, me or Corbin?" "Now, just a moment, Peter. I'm 
saying to you that we will not appoint a single person to those 
positions unless you recommend them. Now, you send the recom­
mendations, ~ as Paul told you a couple of months ago, to him. 
Now, if the name is no good, Paul will call11 you up and say, 
'No good.' You come up with another one, Peter, and another 
one until Paul says it's okay. But he will nee er put a man in 
unless you recommend him. Peter, make sure that Paul likes 
him." Crotty said, "What's the matter, Corbin?" I said, 
"Peter, you know I love you, but they've got to be honest, 
they've got to be clean, Peter. Now, this guy here. . . . " 
I went down the line. Finally, "All right How about my 
mayor, Sedita, Frank Sedita? I want him as director of Customs." 
I said, "Robert, this guy must be nuts." "Shut up! Don't speak 
disrespectful of Peter Crotty!" Well, anyway we l re illaughing. 
Sedita got it, by the way. He finally squeaked through the FBI. 
Sedita got it, but the other ones, down the drain. 

HACKMAN: They went ahead and sent them through though? 

CORBIN: Sedita? 

HACKMAN: No. No, the other guys. 

CORBIN: Out. Never got them. Sedita, they checked and they 
checked, there was rumors, and finally the FBI 
cleared him. Bob tried to sabotage the deal to the 

end becauseJ:l.e had me try to pick up; all the dirt he could on Sedi­
ta. But the real truth of the matter was he wasn't the best guy, 
but he wasn't the worst guy. But the other guys, out. 

Well, anyway, so I went to the Committee and I started get­
ting involved in New York. But politics is funny. It didn't 
take long for ·- the guys all across the country to find out that 
the way to get to the Attorney General is through Corbin. And 
a steady stream started coming in, all parts of the country--
[Jesse M.] Jess Unruh, [Robert A.] Bob Troutman from Atlanta-­
and the first thing you know, I was in patronage up to my ass 
all over the country. Of course, what I would do was go to Bob. 
If there was a complaint, I'd go to Bob. We'd check it out. 
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Now, while this was going on, I get a call one day from 
Peter Crotty. He says, "Paul, you're a very complex individual. 
But in spite of the differences we might have had, I've always 
found you to be a man of integrity and principle. Now, I dis­
agree with your philosophy. I don't like what you're doing to 
DeSapio. This is something you don't understand. There is a 
federal building going up. What do I look like? Some archi­
tect from a different bloody state comes in and grabs this con­
tract. Now, look, you guys are crazy, you and Robert. You're 
both sick. Now, if you have to give it to somebody, that has 
nothing to do with me, please at least pick a guy out from Buf­
falo so I can~ that I did it?" I said, "Peter, if you have 
a good contractor, if you have a good architect, you'll get it." 
I said, "What is the name of the architect that got it?" "So 
and so." Bob said, "You find out who gave it to him." He said, 
"I'll tell you right now. Richard Magliire." I go to Bob. "That 
ain't fair, Bob. Maguire is messing with crooks. These archi­
tects are all no good." "You're right, Paul. I'm going to see 
that Peter ra mes the guy." And he [RFK] calls Dick Maguire in 
my presence and says, "Keep your nose out of New York. Cancel 
that contract!" Maguire said, "I don't even know what bum yru 're 
talking about!" He [RFK] said, "Well, I'll give you his name." 
In the meantime, a fellow cnmes up to me and his cover name is 
Jose. My wife had his name--I can't think of his name. He's 
dead now. He came in and he was working for Welton Becket Ar­
chitects. He had gone to jail and Bob had helped him out. I 
don't know what the background is. He was involved with Cuba. 
And he started telling me stories about the sale of contracts, 
federal contracts. I said, "Put it in writing." I went to Bob, 
showed him these reports, the first report, the second report. 
He said, "Corbin, don't let that guy get oU:t- of your hands. Now, 
bring him over here." I did. Bob patted him on the shoulder, 
told him he's doing a good job, told him to report to me. And 
these reports started coming in: wholesale sale of architects 
and government contracts. You know, it would take me weeks to 
go into detail so I really don't want to; I'll just give you it 
briefly. Then I get a call from Governor [John W.] Reynolds, who 
was the Governor of Wisconsin and is now a federal judge, a very 
close friend of mine. He said, "Paul, I had a fellow called"-­
damn, what's his name; he's over in GSA [General Services Ad­
ministration]. I shouldn't have forgotten his name. My wife 
will tell you his name; she'd knowi ·his name. Karel Yasko is 
his name. He said, "He used to be the chief architect for the 
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state of Wisconsin. He's now working at General Services. 
He's an honest man. He called me . " 

HACKMAN: [Karel H.] Yasko? 

CORBIN: Karel Yasko! He [Gov ernor Reynolds] said, "Yasko 
is an honest guy. He's in charge of the selection 
of the contractors, and he tells me stories that 

make your hair stand up. I gave him your name. Call him up and 
go over and have lunch." He tells me stories which fit into the 
pieces that Jose ' has given me. And this particular one in 
question was the Housing building [in Washington, D.C.?] which 
was just built, just completed a year ago. 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

The new HUD [Department of Housing and Urban 
Development] building? 

Yes, the one that Marcel Breuer got. 

I can't remember the name. 

CORBIN: Well, anyway, this contract had been sold, paid 
off. Joser gives me information. I get Karel 
Yasko and he puts two and two together. The deal 

had just been sold that day. He's a litt l e taken--and he's 
not sure--Yasko. But he says he comes highly recommended by 
John w, Reynolds, the governor of the state, former attorney 
general of Wisconsin, a close friend of mi ne. I said, "I'll 
tell you what, Karel, after lunch I'll ca l l you back." I rush 
over to Bob and tell him the story. I sai d, "I've got the guy 
in GSA, got ourselves an agent." "Corbin , get his ass down 
here tomorrow morning." I said, "You're going to Hyannis Port." 
"I'm not! I'll cancel my trip for the weekend. Get him down 
here!" So I bring Karel Yasko down to see Bob Kennedy, bring 
him in. And old Yasko just--he's a Czech--just shaking in his 
boots about meeting the Attorney General. He said, "I'm very 
busy. I'm working on this and that. Paul tells me the wonder­
ful work your doing. Now, I want you to report to Paul Corbin, 
who will report to me. I will meet with you periodically 
but until such time, you work with Paul." Yasko rushed out. 
I said, "Give me the name of the Contractor they signed." Jose ' 
told me there was a payoff of a hundred thousand dollars--paid 
in Grand Central Station in hundred dollar bills for this 
contract. Yasko tells me that the guy who got it wasn't 
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worth shit--the buildings were no good, the plans were no good. 
And he said, "Here is a tremendous . p~yoff." I don't tell him ,, 
what I hear from Jose. I say, "Who would you recommend?" He 
said, "Marcel Breuer, a great architect, great plans." He 
says, "But they've already signed the contract." I said, 
"Don't men a shit, pal. I'll take care of it now." I rush 
over to Bob, told him the story. I said, "You'll love this, 
Bob. They've already signed the deal." I said, "Ran it · 
through." He calls up Kenny, "Did you he:i. r about. " 
"Never heard of the burn, never heard of the bum, never heard." 
He says, "Of course, you've never heard of the bum. He's an 
architect." A day goes by, I say, "Bob, he ain't done a god­
damn thing." 11 Yasko 1 s sitting there. He tells me this other 
guy is in there getting the plans." He calls Bernie, Bernie 
Boutin. IBFK il "Who called ycu? Who gave you that name?" 
~outin iJ "Why, we selected the best." tRFK:] "Bernie, who gave 
you that name?" 1.Boutin:] "Kenny." [RFK:] "Scratch him. You 
take the recommendation of Karel Yasko on · this one. And you 
call me up, right back, when the contract is cancelled and 
Marcel Breuer's got it." Three days later, an editorial in 
the Washington Post. 

HACKMAN: Marcel got it. 

CORBIN: Marcel got it. "In the new era of the Kennedy 
creative.geniuses. . . 11 Barn, a new era in federal 
construction. Yasko goes strutting around. "Okay, 

Karel, let 1 s get going." Now, what I talked to yau1about, 'Which 
was discovered on the 20th of November, started that day. 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

Do you remember when that .is? Well, I can find it 
in a newspaper just by looki ng up the announcement. 

The announcement and editor i al, editorial comment. 

But it's '61? 

CORBIN: I believe it's '61. I can' t rernernber--I've lost 
all time. Anyway, so here I found myself in pa­
tronage, contracts, hundred thousand dollar payoffs 

on oil, and then I get my next assignment : [James R.] H0ffa. I 
knew the fellow, who came out of Iowa, who was Curley Lore. He 
finds himself in the labor movement enmeshed ±n politics. And 
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the first thing, he becomes ideological, gets religion, starts 
fighting the windmills like Don Quixote. And they lop his head 
off. He winds up working for a little local of the Teamsters 
in Chicago. He writes me a letter one time. He heard about me 
in Chicago.· ·Oh, and I went with Bob--that's another story--to 
Chicago some Polish day, Katskatski or someone [Kosciusko]. So 
we flew in and it was on television. And this little guy sees 
me on television walking around with the Attorney General. He 
writes me this letter, he'd like to have a job and get out of 
town. He's rnvworking for his local union. 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

Teamsters local. 

Yes. I call him up. I said, "You know Hoffa, 
don't you?" "I don't know him, but I know his 
bodyguard. Oh, he likes me. 11 He says, "My God, 

for him very closely." He says, "Hell, I know his I'm working 
bodyguard." 
Get to that 

I go to Bob and he says, "Corbin, number one target. 
guy. Get to the bodyguard. We got to get him." So 

I 

I'm sitting on the Democratic Committee. I've got all these Joses 
coming in with these reports, these Senators and Governors and 
all these leaders, working on Hoffa, and Bailey sits there won­
deci.IB what the fuck is going on--can't understand. Memos coming 
fro~ the White House by Kenny--this is good--Kenny O'Donnell 
transferring me to N~SA [National Aeronautics and Space Admini~ 
stration], the space agency. You know what would happen to me? 
Headline: Commun~ st Trying to Get Into NASA! I figured what the 
hell. Bob got mad--I went down and I said, "Bob, I just got a 
call from Bailey to come in. I'm going to NASA." "What, NASA? 
Get your ass back there! 11 I go back, I say, "Well. . 11 I 
called Bob. "What's the matter?" "They disconnected my telephone. 
They fired my secretary. I've got nothing up at the headquarters." 
"What are you talking about?" "They cut my wires, Bailey and 
Roche. They fired my girl." "Sit there." Seigenthaler comes 
up, talks · to Bailey. MW secre~ary gets a let ter from Roche apo­
logizing, my telephones are restored. But I'm transferred from 
a nice plush off ice to an off ice alnlt l/6th the size of this--
no windows., no airccondi tioning, a small desk. 

I called Bob. "You ought to come up and see my goddamn of­
fice. I'm telling you." "I'll be up." The only reason he came 
up there was to esh!iblish that he was with me. He comes up there, 
and the first guy that drops in t o see is me. "How are you, 
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Paul?" I says, "Bob ,.. .. " He said, "Corbin, it ain't the size 
of the office or "ttll:e size of the desk. It's how secure a guy is 
in his chair. And there ain't no one more secure in this town 
than you are. Stop yapping." [RFK] Walks over to Bailey. A 
half a minute in Bailey's office, then Bob comes back to my of­
fice and he says, "Oh, you cause more goddamn trouble. I've got 
to sit here ten minutes at least to keep you alive for three 
months." "What are you talking about?" "You're the dumbest guy 
alive, Corbin! I've got to be here ten minutes! I'm so--listen, 
Corbin, I could be talking to [Nikita S.] Khrushchev9 [Charles A.] 
DeGaulle. What am I doing here? Talking to myself to keep you 
alive for three months. Goddammit, Corbin, behave yourself!" 
"I ain't done a thing." "Aw, s hut up," and he walked out. 
Bailey says, "Corbin, what did the man say?" "Well, he said he" 
--everybody started--attention now. Bob would periodically every 
three or four months come up to my office. 

Well, when these hearings were going on--let me tell you what 
kirrl of a man Bob Kennedy was. When these hearings were going on, 
they're blasting--you ought to see some of the stories from 
Milwaukee. You never read them? Man, horrible, it was absolutely 
horrible. They dug up guys I never even knew in my life. He would 
drive me to work in the morning with Brumus in his black limousine 
to the Democratic National Committee. He says, "Corbin, you're 
so goddamn hot that I've got to drive you in the morning. By 
nightfall you're dead. I've got to wake you up every morning to 
keep you alive because the apapers are blasting the shit out of 
you." And we'd laugh like hell. The ppor guy felt sore. He'd 
be so goddamn busy and he'a have to drive me. And if there was 
nobody around the offi ce, he'd dr i ve twice around the block so 
somebodyr could see me. 

HACKMAN: ' Now, how was the stuff getting in the papers in 
Milwaukee? 

CORBIN: Ken O'Donnell. 

HACKMAN: ' He was feeding to who? Someone out there like 
Miles McMillan or somebody? 

CORBIN: No, he was feeding it to a r eporter called [Edward 
S.] Kerstein and a guy called [Laurence C.] Con 
Eklund, who's still arqu:rlin Milwaukee. They wee 

feeding it to him, through the FBI and through the House- Un-

Amer ican Activities Committee. Every time a witness would come 
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up in executive session they'd leak it the next day--boom, right 
on the front page. 

HACKMAN: Would anybody else pick it up or just Wisconsin? 

CORBIN: New York Times. 

HACKMAN: Yes, I know they did, but not as much. 

CORBIN: Nothing compared. Oh, Des Moines Register, Clark 
Mollenhoff, every paper in the country, here in 
this town--blast the<.shit out of cme. And [William 

F.] Buckley inPNational Review is blasting away every issue. In 
the meantime, I was losing weight, I was getting ulcers, bastards 
calling my wife, my father-in-law and mother-in-law in Wisconsin, 
they were throwing rocks at them. It was just a terrible ordeal 
--relatives, it was just horrible. And Bob would say, "Shut up. 
Shut up. You'll stand up." And he'd have me in his house. 
Every time he had a party he'd drag me out there. I'd say, "Bob, 
I don't feel like . " "Get out there. Sit in the living room 
so people can see you." He'd keep me alive. 

Well, anyway, it was the Seattle Fair, Seattle Fair. Bob 
came back from the Seattle Fair and he said, "Paul, I took Bailey 
on one of those Ferris wheels. We're alone and I said, TNow , 
look Bailey, if you would do exactly what you're supposed to do 
instead of surrendering to the White House pa lace guard you v.o.ildn't ha\e 
all this trouble. Now, I'm telling you for the last time, you're 
the chairman. Now, if you can't run the goddamn Democratic Com­
mittee, Corbin will be running loose. But if you run it, I'll 
call the dogs off.'" Bailey said, "I'll run it, Bob ! " He comes 
back and says, "I had a fine talk with Bob. What's new today?" 
Oh, he was coming in by then every morning for the instructions 
Bob would giverre..:to give him. He'd say, "Corbin . He won't tell 
me" on account of. The Attorney--her never takes the call. 

"What ' s new today?" I said, "Well, you're s.ippC)sed to do this." 
It was awful; you'd know it makes him feel terrible because 
Bailey was an awful egotist. He'd come, "What's the orders for 
today?" I'd say, ~You do this,do that." I ' said, "Don't pay any 
attention to goddamn memos." One day a memo came in the office. 
Here's a memo, signed by Kenny O'Donnell ~ "The President wants 
you to immediately--~hey want to cut expenses--discharge Bill 
Brawley and Matt Reese." I said, "Well, I don't know about Matt 
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Reese; maybe they have something else for him. I don't think 
these guys would turn on Matt Reese, he's one of theirs. Bill 
Brawley ... [Inaudible] This was on a Saturday. Bob was going 
to Hyannis Port. I drive down to Butler Aviation--before it was 
Page [Page Airways, Inc.]. I san, "Bob, I just talked to Bailey. 
They canned Reese's ass and ... " [Inauflible] "Corbin, are you 
crazy?" I said, "I'm telling you I saw the letter." RFK: "I'm 
getting sick and tired of you, Corbin. Do you understand? You're 
spoiling my weekend. I want that letter on my desk Monday morn­
ing." ! ~said, "Sure, whatever you want." "Get t hat letter." So 
I'm up there Sunday, getting in the office, prying Bailey's desk 
open, get the letter. Rushed down to Bob Monday morning. He 
[RFK] ge~ in about 11 o'clock. "Here it is." In the drawer. 
"Okay," he says , "Get back to your office. You don't know a 
thing if anybody asks . . . [Inaudible] ... byoone o'clock." 
Bailey says, "Corbin! Somebody stole the letter." "What let­
ter?" "That letter I showed you. Oh, Corbin, the Attorney 
General just called me up. Who told him we were supposed to 
fire ... ?" I said, "I suppose the President. The President 
told you to fire them; I suppose he discussed it with Bob~ 

11 J:,.i i sten, Corbin, spmething got mixed up. Bob says the Presi­
dent wants to raise the salary of Brawley and promote Reese in 
charge of registration. Somehow they got i t mixed up and thought 
he was going to fire them. I've got to have "this letter. He 
says he doesn't believe me. He wants to see the lette: . I've 
got to find the letter." I said to myself , "Oops, Bob'~ s got him 
by the balls; he can't produce the letter." Then Steve Smith 
appears. You've got to talk to Steve about it. [Inaudible] 
Smith goes down to see the President, the President did not in­
form Kenny to fire Brawley, did not inform them to fire Matt 
Reese. [Interruption] 

Well, anyway, you asked me what I did at the ~committee. 

That about covers it: patronage--a lot of patronage. Nothing 
went through New York--nobody got appointed in New York unless it 
passed my desk, which meant that::.::twould take it to Bob. Well 
finally, I said to Bob, "We've got to have Steve Smith on the 
Committee." He said, "You're crazy. He's in the State Depart­
ment"--or AID [Agency ~or International Development] or something, 
playing around with that kind of stuff." I said, "I can't fight 
myself." So Steve comes up and I become his admirri. strative aide 
to Steve Smi tb -
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The funny thingis--Steve will tell you this--there comes a 
clash on an order fDom Steve and an order from Bob. Whose order 
do I follow? So I go over to Bob and I say, "Bob, I'm giving 
you a hypothetical problem about a guy in fairyland and his two 
princes are both good." I draw sort of an analogyt between him 
and Steve. He picks up the phone and he says, "Steve, you've 
got a traitor working for you. He's just come and turned you 
in." I come back to the office and Steve says, "Well, Corbin, I 
misjudged you. You're a man with a conscience. Bob kept telling 
me that all the time. I never believed him. But I guess you 
live and learm ' JrFrom now on ease yourself. You don't have to 
worry. I'll never ask you to make any major decisions anymore 
or tell you what to do." I sadld, "Sorry, that's the kind of guy 
I am, Steve. I love you; you know how I feel about you. I know 
the way you feel about me. Our relationship is a little differ­
ent from Bob's and mine. We're genuinely fond of each other in 
a different way. I just can't help it, Steve, I'm with Bob." 

Now, the real clash came--and this you may recall--in New 
York. It goes back to when [Robert] Morgenthau was running for 
governor. ~ut [Robert F.] Wagner with Alex Rose were out to get 
rid of ([Stanley] Steingut. And with the aid of the New York Times I 
they had built up thisg:n:EEt about what a boss Stanley Steingut 
was. Of all the people that I have dealt with in New York State, 
of all the chairmen--like Peter Crotty and others--there's one 
decent human being and that's Stanley Steingut. I dealt with him 
every si~gle day. Stanley was being cut up by the New York Times 
and Wagner and Alex Rose. Wagner got to the President and the 
President had promised him jobs, which he would bypass me and 
give the jobs to Wagner--subsequently I found out--aided and 
abetted by R.F. Kennedy. He kept me fighting, but would acquiese 
with his b~other. Stanley Steingut makes a trip to Washington to 
my office. He say:;;, "Paul, I've had it. Wagner has just taken 
away the largest trucking contract from one of my largest contri­
butors in my district. The job was to transfer voting machines 
from the central place to the schools, and he took that away from 
him." "I am aead, Corbin. Now,those eight jobs that are open, 
Wagner got every one of them." I said, "In a pig's ass he has. 
You've got every one of them as of tomorrow." I pick up the tele­
phone. I start calling guys like in V.A. [Veteran's Administra­
tion] "[Edward T.] Kelly"--who s administrative aide--"Kelly, who 
are you signing up with, Bob Kennedy or JFK?" "Steingut gets the 
job." They had to shit to get off the pot. They start coming 
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t hrough for me. They sided with Bob--at the time. But I know 
these bastards would be calling 'bbe White House and there'd be a 
squabble the next day. It was the Fourth of July weekend. It 
might have been just this very day [July 2]. We're going up to 
Hyannis Port. And my wife and I are flying up on the Caroline. 
There was Steve, there was Bob, myself, my wife, and Wendy Sears, 
a girl who is in New York and now works for the second man in the 
[John V.] Lindsay administration. She worked for Bob in the pr~ss 
corps. She lived in Massachusetts and he gave her a ride. I'm 
sitting with my wife in the front of the Caroline and I hear a 
voice call, "Corbin, come up here, by yourself." "What's new 
fellows?" I can see Bob's face is red and Steve is white. RFK: 
"All right, Corbin. What did I tell you about Steingut?" I 
said, "To be nic e to the guy." RFK: "Did I oakay eight jobs for 
Steingut?" eah ,1 you okay a lot of jobs." "Quit playing games. 
You know what eight jobs I'm talking about." "No, I didn't have 
time to talk. You were busy so I just shot them through. As 
you and I have always discussed, Bob, there's always a motive in 
what I do, and so far you haven't proven rne r wnong . " "What did 
Steve tell you?" "Steve told me not to give any jobs to Steingut . " 
"What did you do'?" "Well, you know that story about fairy land , 
Bob." "All right, Corbin. I can recall in 1960 I chewed your 
ass out. And you said to me you'd never do anything unless you 
have a motive, and I listened to your motive and it was correct. 
It better be correct today." "Simple, Bob. You don't have to be 
a magician. mhe moment Steingut falls, Wagner's got control of 
New York. He's got the city; he's got Brooklyn; he's got it. I 
just don't want ~ Do give that much power to Wagner. I like to 
keep the pot stirring so you can run it Bob. Anything wrong with 
that?" "Get back -there." I sit down, we land in Hyannis Port. 
Bob doesn't talk to me, dirty look, walks away, Ethel [Skakel 
Kennedy] greets him. Steve says, "Corbciin, will you call Steingut 
and tell him that we're going to award him a contract to deliver 
mail from BrooklynJ to Los Angeles ten times a day . And he's got 
those eight jobs and ten more." "I ' ll do that Morlday." "Do it 
today." Still dumb, I don't know why today. So I get to the 
telephone and I call up. And I'll never forget Stanley Steingut 
on the Fourth of July weekend. Stanley ain-~-.t home, but his fa.!: 
ther answers. Who was calling? "This is Hyannis Port ~ " "Ah, 
it ' s the President! Marna, the President's calling Stanley!" 
Then I got it, that Steve meant a call from Hyannis Port meant 
the President, not Bob. That's how dumb I was. "He's not here . 
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I'll track him down. Call every hour on tihe hour," the old 
man's yelling. We111, I wait a day and the next day I call Stan­
ley. "What is it, Corbin?" "Nothing much, Stanley. There's a 
bi~ contract to haul mail about ten times a day from Brooklyn to 
Los Angeles which your contractor is going to get. And by the 
way, these eight jobs are all yours and send in applications for 
ten. 11 "Corbin, you mean they're Siding with me over Wagner?" I 
said, "I don't know anything about that, Stanley. AllI' know .. 
"Thanks a million, Corbi n. Thank you. I'm saved." 

Now, t he last chapter. Robert Kennedy's brother is assasi­
nated. I come here to spring this deal for him to run for New 
York. He's ready to lock me up in a nut house. The day I came 
in and said, "Bob , run for the Senate." He said, "You 1 re crazy." 
I said, "Massachusetts, - forget it. There's a law that says you 
can run [in N.Y.] without being a resident." He says, "You must 
be nuts." The next day he calls 1. me and says, "Corbin, who do 
you think will go for me?" I said, "Bob! Steingut." He said, 
"Corbin, am I glad I sided with you on that plane. God, just 
imagine if Wagner would have had Brooklyn." I said, "You're one 
hundred eighty-six votes, Bob, in Brooklyn. You've got Jack 
English, you've got Crotty, you've got Watertown, you've got 
Rochester. It's ours, pal, it's ours. And I'll tell you some­
thing, Bob. In order to not make it look like a boss-ridden 
deal, let's run a guy called [Samuel S.] Stratton and Howard 
Samuels." Now, the truth of the matter is we created the sup­
port for Stratton and Samuels~ we created opposition for Bob not 
to make it look as if he walked in and just steamrollered it. 
To this day Stratton doesn't know and Samuels doesn't know that 
our guys on instructions came out for Samuels and they came out 
for Stratton--to this day . 

HACKMAN: You put that together? 

CORBIN: That is right. Put that together and ran two guys 
--I called a guy up in New York, couldn't hold him. 
He said, "Corbin, I'm not going to do it. I'm 

going for Bob." "Listen, you're Collector of Customs up there, 
Ed Gossier. You're going for Samuels or Stratton, one of the 
two. 11 I 1 11 take my hat off to that guy. "Fire me," Gossier 
says. ' ~ ! 'm not going to do it. I 1 m going for Bob." "Split your 
delegation." You check the list. Rochester, the guys in Schnec-

II 

tady. [George] Palmer was the chairman, who was for Stratton. 
I got his delegation. They come and say, "Mr. Corbin, we don't 
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give a goddamn. We're going to be in revolt. We're not going 
to go along. We're going to call for a roll call." I said, 
"You bastards do that, you'll ruin Bob Kennedy. You're going 
right down the line for Stratton. Attack Bob as a carpetbagger. 
Raise hell. We can't have it as a walk-away." That's the true 
story. All the time we were in New York, we had it. Now, as 
far as Bob was concerned . . . 

HACKMAN: Who else knows that? Let me ask you that. Anybody 
else know that? 

CORBIN: Steve Smith--ah, I don't know. 
and Steve Smith. Bob Kennedy 
I can't remernber--about three 

guys who were the guys who were told to go 
Samuels. I can't remember the roll call. 
it. If I looked at it, I'd tell if he was 
six years. But we put that together. 

Yes, Bob· Kennedy ~ 

and Steve Smith and-­
or four guys. The 
for Stratton and 
But you could check 
the guy. This is '64, 

Now, if you recall when Bob announced that he was going to 
talk to Wagner at Gracie Mansion, he kept him waiting, him and 
Steve. Do you know why? They were trying to convince [Adlai E.] 
Stevenson to run. He was on the telephone begging Stevenson to 
run for the Senate and pledging him support all over the state. 
The Key was Steingut--wouldn't budge, wouldn't budge with a hun­
dred eighty-six votes. And I'll never forget when it was all 
put together, was all over. I walked into Bob's house and he 
said, "Paul, I'd like to ask you one question, and I won't ex­
plain to you why. You are persona non grata in New York. I can 
not get you a passport. You'll have to work behind the scenes. 
I can't have you, a professional gunfighter, moving into New 
York; I've got to find a local man. I'm going to ask you one 
question, Corbin. And, gosh, I want the right answer. Yair 
friend Jack English, what do you think of him?" I said, "What 
do you mean'my friend'?" "He's your friend. You built him up, 
you crea.ted him. You had me come down to Nassau County when I 
was Attorney General. You had me present the award of the 'Man 
of the Year' for the Long Island 2papers. You've given him 
every contract, every contract. Why?" "Well," I said, "he 
personi fies suburbia, a young clean-cut fellow ... " "Answer 
my question. What do you think? You're hesitating, Corbin." 
I said, "Why do you ask, Bob?" "Give me an answer. 11 I said, 
"Don't turn your back on him. Pick him, but don't turn your 
back. Remember, Bob, if you got a hundred and one votes and the 
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other guy's got a hundred and two, your throat will be cut. If 
you've got a hundred and two and the other fellow's got a hun­
dred and one, you're his hero. Now, he might, by close associ­
ation with you, get to like you. But he's a political boss, a 
typical Irish leader." 

HACKMAN: Let me ask you to go back and explain that on 
Stevenson. I don't understand all of what you're 
telling me about Stevenson. 

CORBIN: Wagner did not want to turn over the state of New 
York to Bob Kennedy. He himself didn't have the 
guts to run against [Kenneth B.] Keating. He 

tried to stop Bob from corning in. Bob Kennedy made a public 
statement he would run if Wagner said no. Wagner was trying to 
get Stevenson to run for the Senate to keep Bob out. Now, while 
Steve and Bob were outS-ide cooling their heels, him and his boys 
were on the telephone--[Bernard J.] Bernie Ruggierei for one of 
thern--trying to get Stevenson to accede to run. 

He said, "Thanks for your recommendation about Jack English." 
I said, "Bob, you haven't answered my question. Why did you ask 
me about Jack English?" "Because my father has the same views 
about him as you have. He called the shots in 1960. I never 
forgot what my dad said about Jack English. And you say the 
same thing, ~on't turn your back, 1 and that's what my dad said. 
I won't turn my back, Corbin." I said, "Well, put him in then. 
Keep Crotty and these other guys in the background." And then 
he turned araind and he looked out the window over the court in 
the Department of Justice. He said, "Corne over here." He put 
his arm around me and he said, "Paul, thanks." I said, "Thanks 
for what?" 11 Steingut, 11 he said. 

HACKMAN: What did he think of English later then? 

CORBIN: English? 

HACKMAN: Over the years. 

CORBIN: English genuinely loved Bob Kennedy. 

HACKMAN: Did Robert Kennedy trust him later? 
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CORBIN: Bob Kennedy was like an elepha nt; he never 
forgot. He forgave but never forgot. That's 
the best way I can answer that. He forgave 

but never forgot. He had an instinct. He had an instinct. 
Although Jack English--I've known him for now this is ten 
years. a like him. He's an honest leader, as honest as 
one can be and survive.in the state of New York. But if the 
other guy has one more vote, he's with the other guy. 
That's Jack English. [Interruption] 

Bob Kennedy was a deeply religious man with very strong ~e­
ligious convictions. He was a very strong Catholic. The first 
time I became aware of it is Wisconsin when he'd be traveling 
with me for three days a t a time. We'd ride down the highwa y 
a nd I noticed--I was completely unaware of Catholicism, had no 
idea what it was--we would drive a longthe highway and he'd make 
:the sign of the cross as he'd pass a c hurch. I s a id, "Why did 
you do that for?" "None of your business." About the f ourth 
or fifth day I said, "Bob, ~-why do you always make the sign of 
the cross when you pass a Lutheran church?" "Tha t wa sn't a 
Luther a n church! That was a Ca tholic churcn." I s a id, "Bob, 
that was a Lutheran church. Let's drive back." He wouldn't 
drive back. I figured, well, the guy thought he made a mistaka 

One day we get to a city called Merrill, Wisconsin, which 
was the Seventh Congressional District. We had a lunch in the 
Badger Hotel, which I found out just the other day from a tourist 
t hat it ' s burnt down. Bob a ppea red at the luncheon and I always 
--when I h a d Bob speak or Jack speak, I always h a d the formula 
of h aving four or five b a nds playing a nd singing, rooms to j a zz 
up the thing for luncheon because usually you have to wait for 
the people to come in, Rotary Club members a nd businessmen. In 
order to not h a ve them all standing around, I h a d singing a nd 
music. I noticed when Bob c a me in in Merrill tha t d a y. 

'11'here is a Ca tholic group here from a Ca tholic school," Bob 
sa id. "No there a in't." But there wa s. "I'll bet you twenty­
five cents I can pick it out," Bob said. "You've got yourself 
a bet. 11 "Tha t little group over to the right." I s a id, "You 
win." This went on. About the third day after tha t I s 2 id, 
"All right, Bob, you pick out the Catholic group ag a in." Anted 
the bet to a half a buck so I could get even. "It's on. The 
ones over there. 11 11 You won aga in. 11 About the fourth, fifth 
win I s a id, "Okay, Bob. There's a trick to everything. 
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What's the trick?" "It's not a trick, Paul. Have you noticed 
anything aboutthese students?" I had by then. I s a id, "Yes, 
I did. They're clea n, their clothes are all pressed, their 
h a ir is combed and they all look happy." He s a id, "Tha t's 
right. That's because they're Catholic they're happy." Then 
we drive a long the highway and we discuss about religion. And 
I can reca ll in the e a rly d a ys , in the primary in Wisconsin, 
we had to stop at King, Wisconsin, which is outside of Waupaca, 
which is a veterans' ~home. That was the last stop tha t 
night, and the next one at 8 o'clock in the morning was a 
breakfast in Antigo up north. There was a terrific fog. 
And I was driving and he kept urging me to try to hit a 
hundred miles a n hour in this fog. He was a reckless fool 
of a driver. Finally, I got to Antigo about 3 in the 
morning. And the hotelkeeper, who wa s a Norwegian, stayed 
up because he had a Kennedy staying in his motel. Bob a nd 
I walked in, and I registered. Bob turns to this Nor-
wegian and says, "Can you direct me to the closest Catholic 
Church a nd c a n you tell me wha t time they h a ve the first 
Ma ss '? " I said, "Godda mmit, Bob, you're supposed to be a 
smart politician. Here you are in Norwegian territory, a ll 
f a rmers, a ll prejudiced, and you a sk this ma n where the Ca thol.:k:: 
Church is." ''Now, get this straight, Corbin. If I c an't go to 
M3ss tomorrow morning, the hell with the Presidency. It don't 
mean tha t much to us. And don't wake me up in the morning." 
He went to bed. I got up the next morning; I came down and I'm 
waiting for Bob in the lobby. Bob is at Ma ss. The s ame Nor­
wegia n is up. I p a id the hotel bill. He said, "Let me tell you, 
young man, I'm voting for Kennedy. Any man who has such deep 
religious convictions must come from a good f amily. And I'm 
voting for his brother Jack. And I'm lea ving this hotel, I'm 
going to hea r his speech up a t the city h a ll"--it wa s the 
second or third flo©r--of Antigo. 

Well, we h a d discussions about Ca tholicism in New York. 
We'd play this game. He never missed in picking--it became so 
that we couldn't wait to get to a place to test the formula. By 
then I bec ame a n expert. I could pick out each time the Catholic 
students in each school. And any time Bob would go to Hass I'd 
go with him. Then in New York, I would go to Ma ss with Bob, a nd 
I found myself going to Ma ss in the morning with [Benjamin A., II] 
Ben Smith, who, incidentally, almost never missed going to M.ass 
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a day in Tu is life, Ben Smith. 
Then, 1when Bob became Attorney General, most Saturdays when 

he was in town, I was in his office--cooked breakfast for him in 
the morning and called up all my relatives on the free telephone 
of the Attorney General--and b.s. with Bob, kid, talk about pa­
tronage and politics, dissect people. That ~ s when he was himself. 
And we'd take a rideusually--he had a convertible--drive out to 
Hyannis Port [Hickory Hill] and have lunch, we'd talk about 
religion. And one day he said, "You know , Paul, you'd make a 
good Catholic." I said, "Why?" He said, "Yru're very -, sincere 
about it and you're asking questions. I've watched you," he 
said. And I said, "Well, might go into i t." "Never make it, 
Corbin. Let me tell you right now, if they ever let you in ; 
that will be the end of the catholic Church." One day I made 
some inquiries at a Roman Cath©lic Church and found out you had 
to take instructions. So I went to Janesville, Wisconsin, where 
I originally came out of, and talked it over with Father [Gilbert 
E.] Carlton, who was very helpful to the Kennedys in t t he sixties. 
He said, "You have to take instructions. After you take instruc­
tions, come back and see me." Sci> I lied and said I'd been taking 
them. He says, "Fine, I'll take it up with the bishops while 
I'm in Madison. You go back to Washington and you get a re­
fresher cc:u rse and then come back." I came back to Bob and I 
said, "Bob, I went to see this priest in Janesville." "Oh, is 
that where you were? I tried to reach you." And I said, "I'm 
trying to get into the Catholic church. I have to go in to a 
bishop. And he talked about taking instructions. Where do you 
take them?" · ~ r· 11 arrange for them." Just then the phone rang 
and Ethel was on the phone. He said, "Ethel, will you do me a 
favor? Paul wants to take instructions. Will you call"--! for­
get the father

1
s name [Father Garnier] ; he's dead now.!. - _: at Holy 

Trinity Church and have them give Pau l instructions? can you 
arrange it for him?" So Ethel aranged it and I start t aking 
instructions for several months. Then I went back t o Wisconsin, 
went to the bishop, and discovered that I had to go to Rome to 
the . . . I had problems. I had been divorced, I hadn't been 
baptized, my wife had been divorced--it was a whole mess. But 
the bishop brought in his legal expert in Madison, Wisconsin , a t 
the Chancellery. He listened to me and he said, "I think you've 
got a 60-40 chance of winning, maybe more." He gave me the rea­
sons why: "I would take your case, but it would take a year to 
check out the facts that you gave us . " T1iey go right through 
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your record. "Go ahead." I flew back and a year went by and 
they recommended my case to Rome. So I came to Bob and said, 
"Bob, this thing is in Rome. I believe Jack or Jackie 
[Jacqueline B. Kennedy] is going down there to talk to the 
Pope." I said, "How about I just slip the guy a few bucks 
and fix it?" "Corbin, you're not dealing with Crotty, with 
English and those guys. You're not going to bribe t h e Pope." 
He said, "Let me tell you, they'll never let you in. Just 
forget it. They've got your number." And one day I get a call 
from my parish priest. He says, "Everybod y thought I was 
crazy, but I have been blessed." I said, "What do you mean 
you've been blessed, Father?" He says, "Pope Paul, the new 
Pope, who just was installed, granted his first favor, number 
one favor. He let you in." "How do you know it's number one? 
Somebody's conning you, Father." "Oh no, they're numbered. 
You're the first signature. You're in." "Good news. See you 
later, Father." I run down to the Department of Justice. Bob 
was conducting a meeting of all the U. S. attorneys on crime 
that day. And Angie [Angela M. Novella] is sitting outside, 
who hated my guts. Angie hated my guts--it's a long story. 
So she figured, well. I come in and the door is locked, Bob's 
two doors. "Angie, I've got to see Bob." "Can't see him. 
He's got this crime meeting with the U. S. attorneys." "Well, 
what do I care?" "I'm telling you, you can't see him." I 
said, "Aw, mind your own bloody business and open the door." 
She says, "No." I can't wait to see him. Three times in a 
row. Finally I took a piece of 3x5 card, "Just got the word 
I'm in. Pope Paul let me in the Church." Opened the door, 
"Got to see you." All these U. S. attorneys. "It better be 
good Corbin! I'm telling you right now it better be good. 
What is it?" "Can't tell you. Come over here." I lay down this 
card. "Corbin, you made it! Meeting's adjourned." Picks up 
the phone, "Jack, time for you and I to leave the Church. 
Corbin just made it." And, "Take a couple of days off, Corbin. 
We're going to throw the biggest champagne party for you." I 
said, "Fine." "Who's your godfather?" "Godfather?" "You've 
got to have a godfather and godmother." "What are you talking 
about?" "You don't understand. You' re being baptized. You '-re< 
clean." "You're kidding, Bob. You mean I'm cleaner than you? 
You've been living all these years and you've sinned, and I'm 
like a new baby?" "Don't get smart with me now, Corbin." He 
says, "Who would you like to be your godfather?" 
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"Never gave it any thought." "Who would you like it to be, 
Corbin?" "You' re kidding," I said. "Yes, I want to be." 
"Fine. " "Who's your godmother?" "I never gave it any thought." 
11 I 1 ve got one for you." I said, "Who1 " "Ethel . " "You 1 re kid­
ding." "You've got to give it to Ethel." "Oky-doke. 11 And he 
became my godfather and gave me my godmother . And my wife be­
came a convert ? the same time, and Charlie Bartlett was her 
godfather and Ethel was her godmother. And that's how it was. 

HACKMAN: That's quite a story. 

CORBIN: Didn·'t you know that? 

HACKMAN: No. 

CORBIN: It ' s not on there, is it? 

HACKMAN: Yes. 

BEGIN SIDE II TAPE I 

HACKMAN: Can you remember other conversat iens you had wit h 
him about--would he ever talk in talking about 
religion like, you know, what all this stuff is you 

believe? Would he ever say, you know, how can you believe the 
Trinity and how can you believe in tihe Eucharist, how can you be­
lieve in baptism, all that stuff? 

CORBIN: Never discussed that with him. 

HACKMAN: That ' s not the kind of thing he would talk about? 

CORBIN: I never raised it with him People are corni ng to 
him at the time that they knew that he was involved 
:in11t becoming a Catholic. And , of course, the Irish 

Mafia were going wild, "Kennedy's got to be going nuts." And I 
get repErcussions, started hearing about it, they were making 
snide remarks about it, taking digs at me. And I went to Bob 
and I asked him, I wish he wouldn't tal k about it anymore, not 
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to tell people, just forget it, this is personal between, you 
know, myself and my wife. He said, "But Paul, you don't think 
for one moment that I would do this as a Catholic unless I 
thought you were ready for it. You were ready for it the day 
you met me. You just never knew. Your wholeID'..ife was geared 
toward Catholicism." And I said, "I agree with you, my whole 
life." He said,"You will be a better Catholic than I am. Peo­
ple don't believe that; they don't know that, but I know you." 
Now, the amazing thi ng is, before I became baptized, although 
he volunteered and asked for to be my godfather, I had to bring 
three letters to him as to why he should be my godfather. I 
can't recall the three people, but I can recall two. One of 
them was Charlie Bartlett and the other one was Steve Smith. So 
Charlie wrote the letter and Steve Smith wouldn't. Everyday I'd 
go in and I'd say, "Bob, Steve won't write the letter." He said, 
"Well, I'll never agree." I said, "Well, I'll get myself a new 
godfather." Bob said, "That's not the arrangements, Paul. Now, 
get this letter from Steve and I ' ll proceed with it." Well, 
finally one day. -I'd go in about every other day, "Steve, can I 
have that letter?" "No, cannot." One day Steve says, ~ Paul, 

I've got tnis letter for you." I said, "Why did you ,go through 
all this?" "Never mind why. Here's the l etter. Take it to 
Bob . " So I took it to Bob. Then my pr ie st wanted to baptize me 
in his parish in Janesville. Bob said, "Do me ene favor, Paul. 
Transfer to Washington. It will be an extreme hardship for me 
and Ethel to leave--Attorney General to fly there. Now, if you 
can't do it, I'll go there. But try." "I'll try that." "You 
can do that." So I called the parish priest, and he had to get 
permission from his bishop, who granted permissi©n to come to 
Washington. Then I found out I had to get permission from the 
Holy Trinity Church to allow this priest, Father Carlton, to 
come. 

HACKMAN: To come in, right. 

CORBIN: Oh, how do you know? 

HACKMAN: No, I just knav the rules. I'm Catholic. 
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CORBIN: Are you Catholic? 

HACKMAN: Yes. 

CORBIN: I didn't know that. Well, finally, we got to the 
church. I'm picking up "the priest at the airport, 
Father Carlton. And on this plane is Gaylord 

Nelson, who knows the priest--because when Gaylord became 
Governor, I got the Catholic Church and the bishop to come out 
for Nelson. And the deal was free bussing. I promised them 
that. I said to Gaylord, "If you become Governor, we want free 
buses"--I wasn't a Catholic then--"for the Catholics." He said, 
"If it can be maneuvered, Paul, when it passes, I will not sign, 
I will not veto it." So we met in the Athletic Club with the 
bishop, Father Carlton, and Nelson after he became Governor. 
And Gaylord kept his word and he allowed bussing in Wisconsin. 
So, anyway, on this plane when I pick up the Father, Nelson's on 
there, Miles McMillan from the [Madison] Cap [itol] Times, a real 
hate son-of-a-bitch, a real sick--on this plane with -·-Father 
Carlton--by the way, he was a Catholic; he was kicked out, Miles 
McMillan. And they meet Father Carlton, they're great buddies. 
I'm meeting him at the plane, and they can't put two and two to­
gether. And Jim Fitzgerald happens to be on this plane. And 
Father Carlton says to me, "Paul, Jim Fitzgerald is one of "the 
largest contributors to my church. I just met him on the plane." 
I said, "Yes, I know Jim. He helped with Jack Kennedy." He 
said, "I'd like to take him to the baptism." I said, "Well, I 
don't know. It's sort of a private little affair." He said, 
"Paul, I've got to have him. If he goe s to this baptism, meets 
Bob Kennedy, he's good for a swimming · pool, new school and every­
thing. Will you, ... Paul? 11 How can I turn the Father down? I said, 
"Bring him along." So we go to the Holy Trinity Church. And the 
old Father who gave me instructions refuses to give up his right 
to baptize me because he's a Jesuit and they have a different 
method of baptism, which is about two hours, the old book. 
Finally we have an argument then, and Father says, "All right, 
all right," because he sees Ethel there and--Ethel smiles at the 
old priest--Bob. So Father Carlton, my priest, is going to bap­
tize me. He says, "Corbin, this is two hours long." ";Cut it 
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short. Just say 'I do' . . 11 "Corbin, you'll never make it." 
"Just say you are and get out of here." So we get in there and 
I'm kneeling, and Bob is on one side of me and Ethel's on the 
other. Now, this I could never understand why he did it. He 
would . never tell me. I was s t anding there--this went on for 
about thirty-five, forty minutes, the whole baptism. He had dug 
his fingernails in my sleeve, and I bled. The pain was horrid. 
And I stood there. Andrcouldn't scream, couldn't say, "Stop, 
Bob." Well, he kept digging his hand in my arm and just kept it 
up as long as the baptism was. I thought I'd faint. Never could 
understand why Bob did it, reached in his hand and just kept 
squeezing. I stood there, and when it was all over he grinned. 
I said, "What the hell did you do that for?" He just grinned. 
Can you figure out why he did it? 

HACKMAN: That's strange. 

CORBIN: What? 

HACKMAN: That's strange. 

CORBIN: He just did it--! guess to sort of, to suffer before 
I came in. I don't know what it was. But it had to 
do with his religion because it was orientated toward 

religion, so there was suffering. 

HACKMAN: Did he talk to you later _ over the years? I mean, 
you know, he's your godfather. Does he check up on 
you to see whether you're doing what he thinks you 
shru ld? 

CORBIN: Always, always asked me, "Go to church, Paul?" I 
recall- -let me see. Jack was assas$inated the 22nd, 
and the 26th was Thanksgiving Day. I got a call 

from Ethel that Bob wanted me to come over alone that morning. 
So I came over to see Bob on the 26th. It was the first time 
that we had a conversation since the assassination. We got into 
the roadster, his roadster convertible, and Ethel says, "Paul, 
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be careful when you're with him." I said, "Why?" She said, "I 
don't know. But there's U.S. marshals here and Secret Service 
so there must be something wrong." So we got into the car, and 
his eyes were swelled up. He said, "Let's take a ride." We 
took a ride and he says, "What's new, Paul?" I said, "Well, I 
know it's hard for you to believe, Bob, but I really am sorry 
about your brother." "Why should it be hard for me to believe'?" 
"Well, you remember that article in Newsweek where I popped off 
about Jack?" He said, "Oh, I know you were just joking." "I 
know it hurt you very bad." I said, "I don't know what to say 
at a time like this. All I know is politics, Bob. And what 
irritates me, of all the phonies, your brother's body wasn't 
even laid in his coffin and the phonies came out from under the 
rocks." "Give me the list." "I don't want to do it, Bob. Not 
today." "Well, let's exchange lists. Give me yours and I'll 
give you mine." I said, "Aw, Bob," and his eyes were swelled red. 
"You got a list?" "Sure have." "What's yours, Paul?" "You 
give me yours first." "No, you give me yours first." "Well, 
now, Bob, you're not going to suck me in a trap and chop my 
head off. Who is it?" "Dean Rusk. Now start talking." 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

That's what he said? 

Yes. "Dean Rusk. Now, what's yo'lrs?" "The [Irish] 
Mafia, right down the line. Maguire, Donahue, 
[Lawrence F.] Larry O'Brien, Chuck Roche." 

Does that include O'Donnell at that point? 

CORBIN: No. I never included O'Donnell. O'Donnell was 
never a traitor to the Kennedys, never. And never 
would be. I gave him the list. Then we stopped 

--because we're on religion--at St. Luke'~ which at that time 
was a school and they hadn't built a chapel yet. And the chapel 
was actually a school class. We went in there. "I'm so glad," 
he said, "that you're able to come in with me as a Catholic, so 
glad." I said, "I guess that's one thing I got from your bro­
ther's administration. 11 We went in and we kneeled, and I broke 
down crying. He walked out and he said, "You big crybaby." I 
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said, "Let me tell you right now, Robert, I'm not a Boston aris­
tocrat. I'm nothing but a bloody peasant from Canada. And we 
peasants cry." He put his arm around me and he started crying. 
And we went to his house, and we talked politics all the way, 
all the way. And he came : in, he said, "Eth el, never go to church 
with this crybaby. He cries." I already knew that he cried too. 
And I went into--he'd just got a sauna bath for his birthday, 
November the 20th. We went into the sauna bath that day. And 
[William H.,Jr.] Bill Orrick:was there and a couple of others, 
and there was an awful scene in there, awful. But he would al­
ways refer, when I came to his home, he'd always refer to me as 
"my godson." He would do it in this way: He would turn to his 
little boy and say, "That's my godson." Or he would say, "Go 
upstairs and kiss your godmother." That's the way he said it, 
"Go up and kiss your godmother." One day we're having a politi­
cal dinner at his hous:! or a luncheon--it had to do with the Senate 
race in New York. So I leaned over and kissed Ethel. He says, 
"Hell of a time to kiss her. Everybody knows you're as hot as 
a firecracker. You had to kiss Ethel right now?" I said, "Aw, 
you told me to 'kiss your godmother every time you see her.' 
Now you're bitching when I kiss her." "Goddammit, Corbin, these 
guys are after your ass. I'm trying to shake you today." I 
said, "That's you, fair-weather friend." And I forget what c~anr­
man out of New York--I think it was [William F.] Bill Luddy-­
made some derogatory remark [about me] , and Bob just turned on 
him and just pounced on-Oim. See, even when he~-he played games, 
you know, he played games with me about Ethel, which were him and 
I. Then somebody else would step in and he'd turn on that guy. 
I remember when he was Attorney General, on Saturdays or after 
work I'd come by. He'd lock the door and we'd play games. I'd 
chase him around the room, down the hall, laugh and joke and 
throw things. He was a different personality. And he'd ask me, 
"How much did you steal today?" I said, "What are you talking 
about?" He says, "You're too dumb, too dumb, too dumb." And 
I'll never forget, one time a guy came over to me at the Com­
mittee, and the government was storing special jet fuel in cer­
tain strategic spots across the country in the event of atomic 
attack or some bloody thing. This guy had a lease or something. 
He had found out where the government wanted to store this 
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gasoline and he leased all this land. And he wanted the contract 
and an option to buy. And he came to me, offered me 25 percent 
of the land, put up the tax and the first 25 percent profit wen t 
to me by getting this contra ct. "Corbin, you'll be a millionaire 
in a year." I rushed down to Bob. "I'm not screwing t he govern­
ment. Somebody's got to get it. Jesus Christ, Bob, my chance." 
"It's yours, Corbin. Tomorrow morning make the deal and you get 
it." "What's the fine print?" "The fine print is you resign. 
You're out of politics and out of government." I say, "I don't 
want that." "Think about it, Paul. You may be sorry some day. 
You want that contract, you want that 25 percent, let me know 
tomorrow morning." I said, "The answer is no. Right now." 
"Wise choice. You would never have gotten the goddamn thing 
anyway." That was his answer, "Wise choice. You wouldn't have 
gotten the goddamn thing anyway." That's Bobby. 

One Saturday morning I arrived at the Department of Justice 
--this was earl\' '61. Angie, by then had gotten to know the 
ropes at the Department of Justice and had informed the guard 
that when Corbin comes, he can't get in. I arrive bouncing in 
Saturday morning ~n my slacks, you know, expecting to go riding 
with Bob, have some fun, screw around. "Corbin? Never heard of 
you. You can't get in? " "What do you mean I can't get in? I 
can use the telephone." "Stay away from that booth." I'm 
standing there, don't know what the hell to do. Going outside 
putting a dime in to call Bob; can't get by Angie. Well, screw 
all, see Bob Monday. I'm just turning around to go out of the 
Department of Justice and get my car. Out from underneath the 
ramp shoots Bob. "Hi, Corbin. Why weren't you here earlier?" 
"Couldn't get in. Angie threw the blocks to me." Private key. 
I've got it at home. A.G. 's [Attorney General's] office. "Hey, 
how do I get in?" "You dumb bastard. That's the key to my 
elevator." I walk right around to the door, put the key, opens. 
I step into the elevator, turn the key-- I 'd seen him do it. It 
opens right up in his office. I walk in . Angie's sitting 
there. "How did you get in?" "Bob gave me his key." Now, I 
would say at least fifty times after that, Bob would want to go 
out. "Where's my key, Angie?" "Can't f i nd your key. I lost 
mine. Get Corbin's." "Angie, get me that key." "You' 11 be 
sorry," she'd say. She just went to e very length possible to 
trap him into asking me to give my key. He never took it 
away. I have 
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it to this day. I ought to go up and see [John V.] Mitchell one 
of these days, say, "Hey, Mr. Mitchell." I ought to do that 
some time. They haven't changed that lock, ought to do that 
some time. Whatthe hell would he do if the elevator door 
opened and Corbin walks out? 

Oh, [J. Edgar] Hoover hated my guts. [Interruption] 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

Let me just ask you--well, you've talked about a 
lot of the times when he got impatient with you or 
whatever--what kinds of things would make him throw 
a tantrum or would really upset him? 

Well, I wasn't referring to getting upset, tantrums. 
He was under tremendous political pressure, and I 
would not refer to that as a tantrum. But he would 

get impatient at times about getting an airplane or in his office, 
wanting a coke and the guy not br:inJing the coke in a hurry. And 
we'd be alone and he'd start screaming, you know, and he'd get 
mad just like a little kid. And I'd say, "There you go, Bob, 
right back to your childhood. Jack just took your toy away. 
You're getting mad, aren't you?" "One of these days I'm going 
t o ,... punch you right in the nose if you say that again." "Now, 
admit it, Bob. Did J ack take your toys away or did he not?" 
"He did! Now shut up." "There you go, Bob. There you go." 
We were driving out to a plane during the campaign--I'll never 
forget New York. "Bob, Jack took that toy away again." "What 
did you say?" "Jack took your toy away." He started aughing. 
He'd get outJ that tantrum. Every time he'd go get in it I'd 
say, "That Jack took your toy away," and he'd get out of that 
tantrum. That's what I meant by tantrums. But he'd get into 
them--impatient about a coke. I'd say, "There you go. He took 
your toy away. You' re getting mad, Bob." And I have to say 
this to you! We'd drive along--this all started in Wisconsin. 
He'd constantly talk about his mother. Now, this has continuity 
right up to '62 or '63. In fact, in '68 he once mentioned over 
the phone while he was campaigning in Buffalo. I talked to him 
one night--about another story which I should tell you. Anyway, 
he started telling me wha:a wonderful mother he had. Because 
he'd talk about his moth er, I said to him, "Bob, it's not your 
mother that's great: it's your father." He said, "Why do you 
keep always saying that?" I says, "Because your father really 
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must have loved your mother and had confidence in your mother 
to give her so much power to exercise over you to bring you 
up--because we all knav how he thought about you children. 
And yet he turned over the day-to-day upbringing to your 
mother. That showed that your father had excellent judgment. 
The one that you should talk about is not your mother but 
your father who allowed your mother to do that." "Well, you 
don't understand the catholic religion, Paul. The mother 
is the center of the home. She's the mother, just like 
Mother Mary." And he'd discuss religion. So he says, 
"And in ours, a Cathmlic home, my mother represents . . " 
"Well, you can cut it the way you want it," I said. "It's 
the f a ther g c ve the mother--religion or no religion. Don't 
tell me the father's going a round with a Bible in their 
hand all the time and say, 'Well, I have to do that.'" 
And he grinned. 

He became Attorney General, and he talked on television 
a nd radio, I forget, in some speech, reference to his mother. 
I says, "You know, Bob, you're always talking about your 
mother. And everybody's taking a kick at your old man's 
ass. I'll never forgive you, and I've told you a thousand 
times. What you did to your father when Jack got the 
nomination in L.A., you wouldn't a llow him to stand and 
make his speech, acceptance speech at the open arena . You 
shanghaied his ass to the Mediterra nean. You're ru:ining him. 
Always a t a time when a f a ther should get pleasure, you 
sloughed him off. Now you're the Attorney General and your 
brother's President and you're always building up your 
mother." I said, 11 Some day, brother, you're going to re­
gret it." "I promise you, Paul, that next time I'll talk 
about my father." About three weeks later he's on tele­
vision--boom, about his mother. The next day he called .me 
at the house. He always called to get an a ssessment, if not 
me, he probably called a half a dozen guys. "What do you 
think of my speech?" "Stunk!" "Now, listen to me, Corbin, 
I'm getti ng sick of. . " "Don't ca 11 me." "All right. 
What did I do wrong?" "Your mother again. You're going 
to be sorry . 11 Three days l a ter his f a ther. . I said, 
"Bob ... " 11Don't you say it. Don't you say it." "I'm 
going to say it. I'm going to s a y it." "Anything you say 
about your futher don't mean a damn. Why in the hell didn't 
you say it before? 11 He walked away. That wa s one incident. 
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And in '68 I talked to him one d a y about a nother deal 
which is very interesting. I had to call him in Buffalo 
and track him down in the middle of the night. I was using 
me a cov.er then , a different name. "Hi." "Hi. I tried to 
reach you all d ay. Cha sed you all over the lot. You've 
got some guy screwing up your schedule. " I'd a lwa ys needle 
the guy. He'd laugh, "Aw, you're mad because you're not 
there." I s a id, "Jesus, who you been t a lking to? I've been 
trying to get you for a n hour. 11 11 I 've been talking to my 
father." "Oh, you've been talking to your father? You 
mean he's been listening." "Corbin, plea se don't raise tha t 
thing aga in to me now, not tonight." "Well, it wouldn't hurt 
you to think about it, Bob. It just wouldn't hurt to think 
about it. 11 I r a ise it aga in in Buffa lo. I needle him all 
the time, all the time, a ll continuously. And he'd needle 
me. Now, the a ma zing thing is Teddy [Edward M. Kennedy] 
tries to needle me. And I'd love to give it to him--but 
not since Bob is dead. I would h a ve loved to give it to 
Teddy, but I won't do it now. I saw him at Ethel's, you 
know, stewed to the gills, stewed to the gills. On the 
sixth of May, stewed to the gills. 

HACKMAN: Sixth of June. 

CORBIN: Yes, stewed. Of course, I suppose, you know, 
the a nniversity of his brother ' s death, a nd 
he' 5 stewed. I didn't think he should have 

done it. But i t didn't really make any difference because 
those who were there were a ll friends. I saw him and he 
looked at me a nd he expected me to needle him. I walked 
away. But Steve told me not to give it to him a nymore. 
After Bob was a ssassinated, Steve said, "Don 't ever ne edle 
Teddy anymor e ." I s a id, "I won't. "He's the last one. 
Plea se . . " "I won't." So when he was standing in the 
stairs t a lking to his sister Jean [Smith] , so he saw me 
go over. And he expected me to needle him. He gave it 
to me first. He left himself wide open, I could have just 
knocked him. I passed it up. You know what the tragic 
thing was? He knew that I pa ssed it up. Tha t wa s worse. 
I should h ave given it to him. So this shocked the 
Kennedys. You'd rather be giving it to him. You fol­
lowing me? 
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HACKMAN: Yes. 

CORBIN: I passed it up. I passed it up. It hurt me 
a fter I did it. He had a funny look about his 
face, and I just passed it up a nd kept 

walking. [Interruption] 
Everybody s aw Bob in a different way because Bob had a 

great knack of playacting. I'd wa tch him seduce the re­
porters. He'd analyze the reporter before he came in a nd 
he would playact. Of course, you've run across that, 
h aven't you? He playacted. And the next guy tha t would 
come in, he played a different role . And I'd go by, "All 
the world 1 s a sta ge a nd all the men . 11 "Shut up! 11 

And I'd say, "You phony. You phony. 11 I'd listen to when he 
t a lked to the guy. Of course, he wasn't a phony, but--you 
know, when you r eally got to know the guy, when you were in­
volved in these political deals where he's maneuvering. 
I'll never forget one time--I've got to say this to you. 
I'm not going into the New Hampshire primary, jlst give you 
one incident. I bounced in. Bob was in his office. "Yep , 
I've got a complete report, 11 I said., "On what?" "On what 
else but New Ha mf>shire?" "Listen to me, Corbin. I don 1 t 
want you to stick your goddamn nose in New Hampshire. I 
don't want you to stick your nose in my life. I'm sick and 
tired of you latching on to me. Now, get out of this 
goddamn office. I don't want to see you for two weeks." 
Out of the corner of my eye, [Edwin O.] Ed Guthman was 
standing there. I said, "Are you nuts?" "Get out of 
here! 11 I went out. I go, "What the hell's the matter? 
The man's gone crazy. 11 I felt kind of bad about it, couldn't 
figure what the hell's the matter. Two in the morning the 
phone rings, "Well, hurry up and give me that report on New 
Hampshire." "Jesus, Bob, that was absolutely uncalled for. 
You absolutely just treated me as if I was a dog." "Aw, 
don' t whimper a nd whine with me on the phone. Let's have 
tha t report." "Not until you tell me where I goofed." 
"You're dumb. Guthman was sta nding there." "Are you 
trying to tell me that Guthman don 1 t . " "Corbin, Et hel 
don't know what you and I are doing. 11 I said, "She don't?" 
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"No." Two days later I'm back, bouncing up in Bob's office. 
We're laughing, playing around. I walk outside a nd Guthman 
s a ys, "Wha t kind of games are you playing with me? What 
kind of a game? Corbin, what's going on in New Hampshire?" 
"Look, Ed, can't you put two and two together?" "Well, if 
he is, if it's what I think it is, he don't trust me." 
"Well," I said, "poor little boy. Don't you know Bob by 
now? Everybody h a s a different role. He may trust you with 
things tha t he don't trust me with. There are certain 
things tha t he .. " "Yeah, that will be the day." From 
that day on Guthman hated my guts with a passion, with a 
passion. He used to leak stories to the press in New York 
against me. Leaked them to the Gannett newspaper chain, in 
Rochester, a fellow called Paul Black, just bec ause he kknew that 
I knew that Bob didn't trust him. 

HACKMAN: Did anybody else know about that? 

CORBIN: Know about what? 

HACKMAN: Know about New Hampshire. 

CORBIN: Two other guys know about it. Don't know 
wha t the hell they knew, but they b r ought 
me money. tinterruption] . . . I'm sure 

he was just raising hell with me about stories he had read 
in the paper. He wa nted to know if I w s rea lly screwing 
around or not, a nd he didn't want me to do it. [Inter­
ruption] 

You know I got fired by LBJ [Lyndon B. Johnson]. I 
went to Aruba for two weeks because things were getting hot 
in New Ha mpshire. So I went to Aruba, a nd I believe I 
took my wife--I can't remember, yes--and I eame in. It 
was February the 11th bec ause that was my wedding anni­
versa ry a lso. The phone wa s ringing as we got into the 
hous e. I t wa s Bob. "Where the hell h a ve you been?" I 
said, "I told you. I went to Aruba . Didn't you get my 
card, my telegram?" He s a id, 11That 1 s right. LBJ called 
me up about New Ha mpshire a nd wants you fired. I s a id 
to him, '-Mr. President, the public have got the whole story 
wrong. He never was my fellow. My brother, the President, 
loved him.' Guess what the bastard said to me, Corbin? 
'I'm the President and your brother is dead. Now get rid 
of him. 111 I said, "How in the hell does he know I'm in 
New Hampshire?" "Kenny told him." I said, "Bob. . . " 
That's the first time that Bob went so far as to make it, 
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11 Kenny told him." I said, "Doesn't that son-of-a-bitch ever 
give up? 11 "No, he's just like you." "You're wrong, Bob, 
about me. 11 11 I didn't mean tha t, Paul. I didn't mean tha t." 
Then he said, "You come to my office tomorrow a nd we'll 
write a letter of resignation." Well, that was a ma ster­
piece, bla sted LBJ from top to bottom. Ha ve you heard tha t 
stnry? 

HACKMAN: No. 

CORBIN: I write the letter. I said, "Bob, I can't 
sign it. You're nuts. 11 "Sign it." Just 
then Steve s~~th walks in, picks up the 

letter, says, "Hold it. Corbin c an't say that. Let me 
write it. 11 "He says that. He's signing that. 11 Well, 
finally Steve toned him down. I came back the next day 
and gave it to Bob. "Is it okay to sign?" "No, sign the 
other one. 11 I said, "Look, Steve wa nts it tha t wa y. Wha t 
the hell? Just tellthem I'm going into private industry 
a nd I'm leaving"--which I signed. But LBJ had me canned; 
Kenny told him. Now, this was these fellows still wouldn't 
a ccept the f act, in spite of all these affida vits--the 
crooks in the White House and the goods we h a d on them-­
they still thought that these people were just displaying 
a weakness for money and that they still loved the Kennedys, 
which wasn't true because our people, some of the guys who 
were working for Bob in New Hampshire, were staying a t a 
hotel owned by [Bernard] Bernie Boutin 1 s brother, who had 
the lines tapped. They we~e going on the a ssumption that 
Bernie Boutin and his brother wa s for Bob when they were 
lock, stock, a nd b a rrel owned by LBJ. I kept telling him, 
"Now, Bob, for crying out loud, you're sitting right with a 
spy. Now, Bob, you're crazy. Get this guy out of there. 11 

But Teddy liked Boutin and his brother. I couldn't con­
vince him. I couldn't ~convince him that these guys were 
cutting their balls, couldn't convi nce them. Just they 
couldn't see it, couldn't see it u ntil a year later when 
Bernie Boutin really sta rts slugging it out. Well, he 
was doing it then, for crying out loud. Bernie Boutin was 
doing it then. 
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Wer e there people tha t went in from out of 
the state, or wa s it just Dunfey and people 
that were working for Dunfey? 

CORBIN: No, never done out of the state. And Dunfey 
wasn't the leader. It wa s [Philip H.] Hoff, 
the Governor of Vermont--who, incidentally, 

is h a ving a p a rty at Ethel's house to raise money on the 
13th of July. I don't know if you know that. 

HACKMAN: No, I didn't know tha t. 

CORBIN: Yes, she's going to be a t Hyannis Port. And 
Gertrude [Corbin] told me l a st night tha t 
Ethel c a lled her a nd they're letting him 

h ave the house to r a ise money. So I s a id, "When you see the 
Governor there just tell, 1 My rega rds from Corbin,' and he'd 
remember." Hoff was for Bob. But the others were owned 
lock, stock, and barrel by LBJ a nd Bernie Boutin, but they 
couldn't convince him. I used local people. 

Now, this Vermont thing goes into 1 68. The real last 
discussion which I had for over an hour with Bob I'll never 
forget as long as I live. I came to see him a t his house. 
I had hea rd then--in '67 I was in Acapulco for two weeks 
during the Christmas week. And I was invited to ex­
President [Miguel Herman Valdes] Aleman's home for a ~party 

with a friend of mine. I went there--there was all cele­
brities in ~c pulco and he's the center of the soci a l 
l adder, ex-President Alema n, next to Merle Oberon who also 
operates out of there. And I was invited. About two days 
after the party, wa lking through the Hilton Hotel in 
Acapulco, a women comes up to me a nd s ays, "How are you, 
Mr. Corbin?" I s a id, "How a re you?" "Don't you remember 
me?" I s a id, "Yes, I met you a t President Alema n 1 s pa rty." 
1 1No, you did not. 11 I said, "We sure did." "No, you did 
not." I said, ·11Where did I meet you?" She said, "You're 
a Bob Kennedy man." I said, 11That's right." She said, 
"Do you want to h a ve a cup of coffee with me? I wa nt to 
talk." She said, 11Well, I did meet you at the p a rty." I 
said, "What do you want to talk to me about?" She s a id, 
"I am a schoolma te of Eugene McC a rthy. I wa s at a party 
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at Gene McCarthy's house a few months ago, and he told me 
that he wa s dedicating his life to ruining the Kennedys, 
and that he should be President. He was a catholic 2nd he 
wa s intelligent a nd he was going to stop Bob Kennedy. And 
if Bob hesitated, he was going to jump into New Hampshire, 
that he thought for sure tha t Bob was going to hesita te." 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

Tell me a g a in when that was. 

That wa s in ' 1 67. Let's see. 
it was 1 67. 

Wha t time of the year? 

1 67, yes, 

It was Christma s when I went there. 

You mean the Christma s before McCarthy 
announced the next fall. So it would have 
been the Christma s of 1 66. 

CORBIN: Yes, it must have been 1 66-- 1 66, before he 
announced. I picked up the telephone and I 
called Steve Smith when I got back a nd told 

him the story. I said, "This woman lives in Hopkins, 
Minnesota. She likes Bob Kennedy--not so much that she 
likes Bob Kennedy, she's disillusioned at McCarthy. This 
guy is going to run." And I saw Bob, he came over and he 
was playing--I'll never forget--he was playing tennis. He 
suspected that I was coming to t a lk to him about New 
Hampshire. He wouldn't say hello to me, ignored me a s if 
he never s aw me in his life before. I watched him pla ying 
tennis. He had a worried look on his face. He's playing 
tennis. Teddy wa s there a nd Ethel was there, and I forget 
the other partner. Then we walked over to the house. He 
wouldn't s a y a word to me. I s a id, 11Wha t 1 s troubling you?" 
I got to the house a nd he wa s t a lking to Teddy. I c a me over 
a nd Ethel stood on the stairs. And he was on the bottom 
step. I said, "Wha t bugs you? 11 "You keep godda mn off New 
Hampshire, Corbin. You step in there a nd I'll chop your 
goddamn hea d. 11 I s a id, "Let me tell you right now, Bob, 
this is not 1 64. I'm asking you to go into New Hampshire. 
If you don't, he'll t ake it. 11 "Keep out of my politica l 
life, Corbin. I've got top ad~isers. Right now this is a 
different ballgame. This ain't New York. I'm going for 
the Presidency. 11 "You're darn cra zy, Robert. You're darn 
crazy. These reformers a re going to get your a ss before 
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it's through. The last mile when you reach out to grab 
their hand, they won't like the color of your fingernail 
polish a nd you're a goner. Remember that." "If I want 
your damn advice in New Hampshire, I'll ask for it." 
Teddy said, "Leave him alone. 11 I said, "I never a sked your 
brilliant advice." "Well, it's time you left." 11 Suits me 
fine, Robert, but get your ass into New Hampshire." I 
started wa lking. "Paul, now, look, Paul , you're one guy 
in the world ... [Inaudible] I just can't go to New 
Hampshire, Paul." "Why?" "I don't want people thinking 
I'm reaching out for power." "It ain't going to come to 
you, Bob. You've got to re ach for it." "I can't have that 
image, Corbin." "Well, how the hell a re you going to get 
it?" "Lea ve me alone. I'm not going.:in. 11 "McCarthy's going 
to go. I'm telling you he's gorung to whip your ass. He's 
going to win." "I'm not going to New Hampshire, Paul." 
"All right. Answer me one question. They're c a lling me." 
"Sure they're calling you. That's why I'm mad. And 
you're talking to them." "I'm listening." "You never 
listened in your life. You're urging them." I s a id, "I'm 
not. I really am not, Bob. I'm just listening. What do 
I do?" "That's the 'problem, Corbin. They all call you. 
That's the problem. Now, you can't say a word. Just talk 
a bout the we a ther. Don't say anything. It'll be inthe 
p apers." "Wha t do you want I ought to do? What do I do?" 
"Turn the names over to Steve." "Wha t do I do? Don't take 
the c a lls?" I knew him. He never s a id don't take them. 
"Take the calls, but be careful." I s a id, "Okay, Bob. 
Run in New Hampshire." "Not going to do it. 11 I got to the 
c ar, and his way of making up, · you know, he said, "See 
you later, alligator." I said, "Smile when you s a y that, 
crocodile." He waved his tennis r acquet. 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

When was that? 

That's the l a st argument we h a d about New 
Hampshire. I c a n't even remember--! can't 
remember the date. 

Okay. It must be though, wha t, the fall of-­
it's before McCarthy announced? 
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Yes. It was the l a st time we discussed 
New Ha mpshire. 

HACKMAN: Okay. Let me get you to go b ack to some-
thing else then. You were talking about 
Jose~ How then does it develop from those 

first things to the point where you are on November 20t~? 
You know, how do you build up the case and wha t gets put 
down on p a per? 

CORBIN: well, Jose played no real concrete role in 
the l a st mile where I build this case. 
Yasko, Karel Yasko contributed information. 

He p:lrticipated in calling people , getting me the infor­
mation about meetings between certa in regional directors 
of General Services Administra tion of certa in a rea s. I 
become, by tria l a nd error, a n expert on getting the 
information. It got so that you had a jigsaw puzzle and 
three or four pieces were missing. The moment you pick up 
a piece, it gave you the key. The guy who g a ve you that 
piece didn't know he was giving it to you. Karel Yasko 
would sit there and I'd be talking to him constantly, and 
he wa s giving me--of course, he felt secure. He h a d met 
the Attorney Genera l. The Attorney Genera l told him to 
feed me this informa tion [Inaudible] the White House. He 
probably would h a ve been the next administra tor for GSA 
[General Services Administra tion] . And he was giving me 
all this information. What they were beginning to do is 
r a ther tha n go direct into Bernie Boutin or a fellow 
c a lled [Lawson B., Jr.] Knott ... 

HACKMAN: Lawson Knott. 
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CORBIN: ~awson Knott, who wa s up to his neck in this 
whole dea l, not the:.t he wa s getting pa id 
off, but he wa s go~ng olong a nd doing 

Bernie's dirty work. They would sta rt sending these guys 
through regional directors, recommending it to the regiona l 
d i rectors. So I h a d built up a case on ten regional 
directors or people that were in their offices, and re­
ce i ved affidavits, where they were recommending a certain 
guy that they'd meet a nd he'd get a cut--he sent them into 
Wa shington and there was a cut all the way down the line-­
a nd the amount of money paid and how it wa s pa id a nd who was 
paid. I would consta ntly go in to Bob with evidence. I 
remember I said, "Wha t the hell do you want? Trying to 
find a n a libi for these guys? 11 1'Corbin, I've got to go to 
Jack, my brother. I've got to h a ve it sta nd up. In other 
words, Jack will s ay to me, 'Bob, c a n you t ake this evi­
dence a nd get a conviction?' I c an't accept your evi­
dence. I know you're right. I know what you s ay is true, 
Paul. But I've got to have evidence which will stand up in 
court, a nd I've got to have enough of a c a se b e c a use I know 
they c a n get to a federal judge, Corbin. You get me that." 
[Inte rruption] 

HACKMAN: You should t a lk about wha t his reaction wa s 
then when you presented it to him fina lly. 

CORBIN: Oh, Jesus. I went to show him the evidence. 
He read it. He said, "Well, I guess that 
does i t , Paul. You did a fine job. Grea t 

work, Paul. Terrific. I'm going to c a ll my brother." He 
reached for the telephone a nd he s a id, "Paul, today's my 
birthday." I s aid, "Yes. Some of those guys a re going to 
b e a t your house tonight. 11 "Well, I won't do it on my 
birthday. But you be heEe tomor row morning 9:30 sharp, 
Paul , and we 1 11 do it." "I 1 m for doing it now. I can 1 t 
wait until tomorrow movning. Bob, they're going to know. 
They know by now. One of those guys chickened out a nd 
told them. Out of a ll the people who h a ve been interro­
g a ted, one guy is sure going to get sc a red and tell them." 
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mar this party. Now, are you going to be there tonight?" 
"Yes, I will." "You be sure and be there." "I' 11 be there." 
That was the last festive party held by the Kennedys, the 
last affair of Camelot, November the 20th. It was a great 
affair and everybody was there that meant anything to the 
Kennedys because it was his birthday. All night long as 
we were dancing, and laughing, and drinking champagne, Bob 
had a strange look on his face. And four or five times 
during the course of the evening we would look at each other 
across the room, look at each other across the room, and 
I've often wondered what he thought. But he knew I was 
nervous and he was nervous. As I left I said goodbye to 
Ethel and I went over to the door to go out and Bob came 
up to the door, "9:30?" "9:30." I knew that that was on 
his mind. 9:30 the next morning bright and early I'm in 
his office. Bob is there. "Hi, Paul. How are you? Well, 
let '' s get my brother." He picks up the te l ephone , h a ngs u p . 
"Jack went to Dallas. We'll get him Monday." I said, "Gosh, 
Bob, a whole weekend. What a re they going to do?" "There 
ain't a damn thing they can do." "I don't know. I'm sc a red. 
Why wait?" "I can't do it. Got to talk to Jack because of 
the people involved." 

Now, well, Jack was assassinated. I completed dropped 
the matter. I wasn't going to bring it up. Well, one of the 
people involved in helping me get information kept bugging 
me. "What's happening?" I went to Bob finally and said, 
"Bob, remember that stuff I gave you?" "Yes." "Where is 
it?" "Paul, did you do wha t I told you to do when you 
typed out that memo? " "Yes, I did, Bob." "I knew you 
would. No copies, Corbin?" "No copies. But the girl 
that typed the memorandum knows, Bob. She doesn't know all 
the details, but she typed it. 11 And I sa i d, "She looks at 
me evefy morning." He said, "Paul, can't do a thing. 
You've got to have 1600 Pennsylvania Avenue to pull off 
what you want to pull off anr! what I want to pull off." I 
said, "Why?" "Paul, did you read the pa per? They're all 
on the plane going to the Johnson ranch." I said, "You 
mean to say tha t he's in""Wolved? 1

' "Don't you talk about the 
President tha t way, Paul." I said, "Okay." I said, "Bob, 
you're the Attorney General." He said, "You don't under­
stand." 

• 
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I knew what he meant about two months later. Judge 
Brennen was a federal judge who sat in Utica, New York. 
That's the home of [Rufus P.] Rufie Elephante--and that's a 
chapter by itself which I really should record separately. 
But there was a gangster who w s up on a tax eva sion case in 
front of Judge Brennen. I worked with a [James E., Jr.] 
Jim Byrne, the U.S. marsha.11, who is now in the Virgin 
Islands, a great guy. I was working with him and he was 
watching the c a se. He brought it to my attention first. 
And he got shocked when Judge Brennen practically let the 
guy go. I said to Jim Bryne, "Is Judge Brennen a crook?" 
He says, "No, he's not, Corbin. He never accepted a bribe 
and never would, but he's a product of the New York poli­
tical machine. He's an Irish lawyere who became a federal 
judge. So the pa:ty chairman comes in and says, 'Judge, my 
son maee a mistake. We mistreated him. He's a great 
fellow. I can vouch for him. 1 He brings his priest in and 
they all vouch character references. And the judge goes 
easy. He wasn't bribed, wouldn't t a ke a dime." I said, "Let 
me t a lk to Bob about it. 11 I said, "Bob ... 11 "Yes, I 
watched that case, Corbin. That Judge Brennen's crooked." 
"No, he's not. He's a typical Irish federal judge." 
"Corbin, if he's not dishonest I don't want to hurt him. 
Get his ass out of that judgeship." "How am I going to 
do it?" "You work it out. 11 "How am · I going to work it 
out?" "Work it out, Corbin." "Well, I'm dumb, tell me 
how. 11 "Ask Jim Byrne to follow him into the piss house to 
take a leak and whisper in his ea~ 'I just came back from 
Washington and it looks like Bob Kennedy is ready to 
[Inaudible] you because of that case.' That's all you do, 
Corbin. Don't get caught." I call in Jim Byrne. Jim 
Byrne flys in. Jim Mcshane, who was head of U.S • .marsha ls, 
brings him in and I told Byrne to s ay, "Judge Brennen, 
I just came from Washington 2nd they're noseying around that 
t ax case. They think you took a bribe," and walk away. 
"The moment you do that call me up. 11 He calls me up. He 
met him, passed the message. Twenty-four hours after he 
got the message, Judge Brennen's in his office, resigna­
tion on Bob's desk, at your leisure. I get a call from the 
county chairman, who has enough trouble in his life right 
now without me mentioning his n a me. We c a n spare his 
grandchildren. He meets me a t a hotel called, I believe, 
it was the Webster, which is now torn down in New York ... 
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[Inaudible] And we're having a drink. He introduces me to 
s::xne big contractor engaged in government work. And he says 
to me, "The reason I brought this fellow is this fellow has 
a real friend, a wonderful fellow, he'd like to have as a 
judge out of Auburn, New York. And we have found out that 
you have influence on Bob Kennedy." I said, "You're over­
estimating my influence. I've never recommended anybody for 
a federal judge." "No, but we understand that Bob Kennedy 
has had you working on federal judges." "Yes, checking them 
out. That's all. Tha t's not my cup of tea. Never screw 
a round with federal judges. He'd asked me to go into the 
state and check on a guy, and I'd say good or bad." "Now, 
look, if you said to Bob Kennedy that you like Jack Smith, 
would Bob look into the guy?" "Yes, he would." "And if the 
guy stood up, he was good, would Bob put him in?" "Yes, he 
would." Well, the truth of the matter, I had recommended 
another guy for the judgeship, George Craig, who would 
have gotten it. I deal with him. Oh, you misspelled it-­
you call him Crane--and I corrected it in the transcript. 
It's Craig, C-R-A-I-G. Bob had told me he was going to put 
George Craig in. So I knew this guy wasn't going to go. 
So he said to me, "Will you whisper, just whisper, this 
guy's name to Bob Kennedy? There's ten thousand dollars in 
cash." I said, "Payable when?" 11Right now. Just give us 
your commitment that:xou'll. mention his name. Ycur word is 
good for us." They knew my word was good. I said, "Let 
me think about it." I go into Bob and tell Bob about it. 
"You dumb son of a bitch. You should have taken the ten 
thousand bucks. We need it for registra tion." I said, 
"What about--you' re not putting that bastard . " "No, 
who's going to put him in? So you tell the guy you 
whispered. So I l didn't hear." I said, "You don't mean 
that, Bob, do you?" "No." Wha t's the guy's name? 
[Inaudible] Jack Kennedy gets a ss - ssina ted. Rumor has it 
that this guy has given me the ten thous a nd bucks for that 
judgeship. [Joseph F.] Joe Dolan is now Bob's a dministrative 
assistant. He was handling the judges now. I go to Joe, I 
says , "Joe, what a re you doing? 11 He says, "Look, Corbin, 
Kenny's there right now." "I know it's Kenny." As soon as 
I wa s bounced, Kenny {O'Donnell] was appointed to handle 
New York, to take my place. Kenpy is doing it. I go to 
Bob. I says, 11 Bob, how can you put this guy in, Bob? 
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You know the ten thousand bucks was offered." "Corbin, I 
didn't submit that name. I submitted George Craig. And it 
came out that guy there." "What are you going to do about 
it?" "I told you we haven't got 1600 Pennsylvania." That's 
when I begin to realize what he meant when it came to the 
case: He didn't have 1600 Pennsylvania Avenue. I said, 
"Bob, it's terrible about that crook. You know the guy's 
corrupt. They offered me ten thousand bucks." "Can't help 
it. Can't do a thing about it." I said, "Can you do some­
thing if you ever got to be President?" "We got rid of 
Brennen, didn't we?" He smiled. [Inaudible] . get rid 
of the son-of-a-bitch one way or another. Well, then he 
said, "We got rid of Brennen, didn't we?" So this guy who 
succeeded Brennen was worse than Brennen. He's right now 
sitting on the bench. And all Brennen . [Inaudible] 

• give me his name. Now, he wasn't involved with these 
two guys who were speaking for him. 

HACKMAN: Whatever happened to these papers that you 
put together on the thing? 

CORBIN: Oh, well, Bob had that copy. And I'd go to 
Bob and ask him for it. "Later. Tomorrow. 
Later. Later." I said, "Bob, you're never 

going to give me those papers, are you?" "Yes, I will. 
Later." I said, "When?" "Corbin, I'm busy right now." 
"You ain't never going to give them. " "I said I'd 
give them to you later." "You promise?" "I promise. Later 
I'll give them to you. Some day you'll have them, Paul. 
Now, please, Paul. " He had a look of agony in his 
face. Couldn't do anything. "Give them to you later." 
Bob Kennedy became assassinated. In between that time, 
another party, this one person who I was working with, 
whose name I will not divulge--I'm pledged to secrecy to 
the guy. "Say, Bob, Paul said you got those notes. Can I 
have them?" "Oh, I'll find them one of these days and I'll 
give them to you. I'll give them to Paul and he can give 
them to you. But I'm busy right now." We get on the tele­
phone and said, "He ain't never going to give them to us. 
He can't do a thing about it. You're going to print the 
story in the paper and the first thing, bang, it will make 
him look like a shithead because he had tnem from the 20th. 
It's no good. Forget about it." "Got to get a hold of 
it. Reconstruct your notes." So I go through rough copies, 
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look at them, look at them, raw material, but not the affi­
d avits. Ain't got them. All the rest is r aw ma terial. Well, 
Bob Kennedy's a ssassina ted, and John Seigentha ler has access 
to his papers. You knew that, didn't you? 

HACKMAN: Yes. 

CORBIN: "Well John ....• " "Looked through every 
one of those papers, Corbin. I know\Mhat 
you' re a fter, and they' re not there. 11 I says, 

"Okay. There's two other alternatives. Either he destroyed 
them--which I do not believe because he would never destroy 
them--or Angie Novella got them. And Angie got them a nd 

.·sh= flushed them down the toilet. " And I sai d, "Look again." 
John s ays, "It's the first thing I looked for, Corbin. I 
couldn't find them. 11 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

When did John look for those? How soon a fter 
the a ssa ssination? 

As soon as he got a ceess to them. 

I've forgotten that .... What about the 
r a w materials? Ha ve youstill got those? 

No. 

BEGIN SIDE I TAPE II 

CORBIN: 

HACKMKN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

Does a nybody ever discuss his role with the 
t:: eformers? 

In New York? 

Yes. His feelings towa rd them a nd his role. 

His what? 

His feelings a nd his - ttitude towa rd re­
formers. 
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Well, yes, we've a sked a lot of people about 
it, and you sort of get mixed . 

Mixed . . 

HACKMAN: Yes, a s you know, depending on who you're 
t a lking to. I me a n , if you're talking to 
[Allard K.] Al Lowenstein you're going to get 

~ different story than if you're talking1D you or O'Donnell 
or Seigenthaler or Willia m Walton or whoever. 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

Wha t is Bill Walton doing t hese d a ys? 

I think he's spending the summer, whe~ ever 
he goes for the summer, I don't know. We 
did one inte rview with hi..m and then he took 

off for the summer somewhere. 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

Wha t does he do for a living now? 
ruption] 

[Inter-

You had something about the reformers then? 

No, I was just curious. 

Wha t about his opinion of vanden Heuvel? 

Well, Bob used to h a ve one a nswer every time 
I'd raise hell about (Willia m J.] v a nden 
Heuvel : "There's one thing I can s ay about 

v a nden Heuvel which I c an't s ay about you, Corbin, he comes 
free." "I'm not so sure if it's worth it." "A lot of 
people s a y you a in't worth a godda mn when I' m p aying you. 
Corbin, vanden Heuvel comes free. Den~ cuss v a nden Heuvel. 
Whoever I send in New York is going to become a t a rget a nd 
everyone will be critica l of him." "Yes, Bob. But v a nden 
Heuvel doesn't know politics. He's a nice, likeable guy--
I rea lly like him. I'm extremely fond of Bill v a nden 
Heuvel, but he knows nothing a bout politics." "Yeah, maybe 
I want it tha t wa y. I had you a round me a nd look a t the 
trouble I wa s in all the time. 11 That would be his a nswer. 
But his sta ndard a nswer is, "Bill vanden Heuvel comes fr e e." 
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During the Kennedy Administration where does 
fGer a ld J .] Bruno fit in over there? 

CORBIN: Bruno did not work in the Democra tic Na tiona l 
Committee. Towa rds the end, getting re ady 
for '64--they tried to put Bruno in the Demo­

c ra t i c Na tiona l Committee since 1960. They s e nt memos to 
Ba iley. Bob would never approve it. He f i na lly did! 

HACKMAN: Why is tha t? 

CORBIN: Well, I really never , never discussed Bruno 
with Bob. When Bob Kennedy beca me Sena tor, 
Walter Sherida n became his ma n up in Syracuse. 

And Sherida n made the mi s t ake of quitting. I h a d a fellow 
ecill.ed Jim Byrne a s U.S. marsha ll, who is now in the Virgin 
I sla nds, all picked to be his successor. But Steve Smith 
has always liked Jerry Bruno a nd Steve Smith recommended 
Jerry Bruno to Bob. And Bob put him in. And he worked hard 
for Bob Kennedy. J erry Bruno was not my cup of tea beca use 
Jerry Bruno was invofv~d i {i one of those deals--not with 
GSA, but an oil dea l. He was a witness to the dea l. So 
Jerry Bruno is not my cup of tea . 

HACKMAN: Wha t about Louis Martin? 

CORBIN: Louis Martin c a me through Sa rge Shriver out 
of Chic a go. Louis Martin got a long well with 
everybody a nd was liked by the Negroes a nd 

by the whites. He was very loya l to the Kennedys. And when 
J ack Kennedy wa s a ss a ssinated, he stayed throughout the 
Johnson Administra tion. But a lways, when c a lled upon to do 
something for the Kennedys, would do it. 
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I like Louis Martin. There's one little tidbit about 
Louis Martin that some people know about. I think it's never 
been told to you. But try to find out by echoing around as 
to why he was never brought into the White House. That's a 
nice question. I like Louis Martin though, I really do. 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

I'd like for you to t a lk about getting sort 
of orga nized in '63 for what would h ave been 
the '64 Kennedy campaign for President. 

Oh, you have a list of that. This is very 
interesting. 

I don't know whether this--this is a list 
sort of . . . [List shown to Pa ul Corbin:] 

Ra skin: Washington 
Oregon 
Nevada 
Idaho 
Montana 
Indiana 

Roncalio: Wyoming 
Utah 
Arizona 
New Mexico 

Brawley: California 
Florida 
North Carolina 
Arka nsas 
Kentucky 

Bruno: North Dakota 
South Dakot 2 
Nebraska 
Kansas 
Iowa 



Smith: 

Lucey: 

Meriwether: 

Dolan: 

Seigenthaler: 

Troutman: 

E.M. Kennedy: 

J. Symington: 

Ma guire: 

Bailey: 

Dunfey: 

New York 
Pennsylvania 
Ohio 
Michigan 

Wisconsin 

Alabama 

Colorado 

Tennessee 

Georgia 
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South Carolina 

Massachusetts 

Missouri 

Illinois 
New Jersey 

Connecticut 

Maine 
New Hampshi re 
Vermont 
Rhode Island 

CORBIN: 1964 would have been the most enjoyable cam-
paign of my life. Dick Maguire is c a lling 
meetings about twice a week which Bernie 

Boutin was cha iring. That list is full of bullshit right 
here, about a s phoney a s a three-dollar bill. I'll give 
you the rea l list when you come to my house. 

HACKMAN: Okay. 
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CORBIN: Now, this wa s the Mafia a ssignments, the 
Irish Ma fia. I came to Bc:b one d a y, I said, 
"Bob, these boys c a lled me in to one meeting 

and they a sked me what I thought about certa in sta tes . I 
h a ven't been invited, but I've got a pigeon there. The pigeon 
S:its a t these meetings, and he's got a list. They'd appointed 
the coordinators in cha rge of these sta tes." I said, "You 
wouldn't believe it." "Get me a copy." "Got it right here." 
"They must be out of their minds. I'll t ake c a re of that 
right now. Dick, who in the hell authorized you?" I'm 
giving you a conservative description of Bob's discussion 
with Maguire: "Who in the hell authorized you to pick 
coordinators? I'm going to pick them a nd Jack is going to 
p i c k them. We ' re going to pick the coordinators. Now, get 
that, Dick Ma guire, or your a ss is going to be out of there. 
Now, Dick, I wa nt you to write me a letter of apology. I will 
select the coordinators, every single one o f them. And 
Steve Smith willgive you my list. Now, you got .that, Dick? 
Repeat tha t to me three times.tt Of course, you've h ea rd 
the story tha t Maguire cried. Steve c a me in,. "Okay, 
Corbin , let's draw up the list. 11 So we kicked it a round 
for a week, a nd we drew up the list, took it to Bob, Bob 
oka yed it, "Give that to Maguire.'' I've got the list--
s aving it for posterity. And I can tell you right now this 
is a ll bullshit--all b.s., a ll b.s., Brawley, all b.s., 
Bruno--jeez, they shangha ied him up to nothing; there a in't 
six, there ain't ten votes in a ll these things. Smith, 
it's all bullshit, bullshit, bullshit, bullshit, a ll b.s. 
Oh, they'd love to h a ve that copy I have. Do yc:uknow who 
h a s Ohio? You can check that, my friend. I t c a n be checked 
out. On our list, do you know who h a d Ohio? 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

No. 

Well, it was a lrea dy a nnounced in the pa per. 
we beat them to the punch. Helen Keyes and 
[Pa trick J.] Pa t Lucey. 

Yes, a s a matter of fact, they took a trip 
to Ohio. 
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CORBIN: They got it. They're on the list. Now, they 
have here Pat [Lucey] staying home right 
here in Madison. They're full of shit. 

That's their dream ticket. I've got the only original list. 
Maybe Steve has his, maybe Bob has one in the Archives, but 
I kept mine. 

HACKMAN: It was overruled in effect byhim? 

CORBIN: Let me see about being overruled. No list was 
even recognized. Bob told Dick Maguire, 
"I'll prepare it. Don't you think my brother 

and I have something to say about who it's going to be?" 

HACKMAN: That's what I've heard. 

CORBIN: There was a witness to the conversation. 
[Interruption] 

HACKMAN: Barbara Coleman? 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

Barbara Coleman was very loyal to the 
Kennedys, but would never be a pigeon even 
for the Kennedys. 

Barbara Coleman , yes, okay. 

CORBIN: Terrific gal, very capable, very loya l, came 
from Green Bay, Wisconsin. Her father was 
Jewish and her mother was Irish, and she 

moved to Brooklyn--a confused, mixed-up girl. But a terri­
fic gal, terrific gal. What's she doing now? Working for 
Congressiona l Quarterly? [Interruption] 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

Yes. 

I've got papers that would fill this room 
up--all notations and handwriting by Bob, 
signed instructions. 
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In terms of getting papers, what did you 
take with you when you left tre Democratic 
National Committee? 

CORBIN: I moved out with a truck on Sunday morning 
and walked in there and cleaned out every 
goddamn piece of paper I had, and tried to grab 

everything else I could. 

HACKMAN: Anybody ever come after you on tha t? 

CORBIN: Took all the Kennedy files tha t I could, all 
the cards, everything. In fact, I took them 
twenty-four hours after Jack Kennedy was 

dead. He wasn't even buried. He wasn't even buried and I 
was up there already taking them. rmnterruption] 

One day I'm in West Virginia and a reporter by the name 
of Charles Bartlett blows into town. He couldn't get a 
hotel room. So I had twin beds a nd he shared it with me. 
He said, "Paul, why don't you like Kenny O'Donnell?" I 
said, "The only thing that makes me stop for a while a nd 
wonder what the hell am I doing working _for Jack Kennedy, 
is the presence of Kenny O'Donnell. He reminds me of 
Heinrich Himmler, [Joseph P.] Goebbels, [Hermann W.] 
Goering all rolled in one--a real Gest~po agent. Charlie 
says, "You've got a good sense of smell, Corbin." 

Now, when we caught Ma guire with his p a nts down on one 
deal, Charlie Bartlett went to Jack Kennedy to get him 
canned. Kenny O'Donnell called up Charlie Bartlett, told 
him Maguire was an honest, lovable man who gave up a 
fortune in law practice in Boston to make the supreme 
sacrifice for his President. The truth of the ma tter is 
Dick Maguire didn't have a pair of pants without his ass 
sticking out in Boston. Kenny came up with thatJline. 
"He would resign." Well, how do you analyze that? Well, 
it sounds as if he's the king of America and he's turning 
the crown in. Now, if I was Jack Kennedy and a guy threatened 
to resign, I'd kick his butt out that goddamn gate so far. 
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Now, I also have stories where I once talked to a 
Secret Service agent in Hyannis Port one weekend--he got 
stiff a nd talked to me about what Kenny said. I reported 
it to Bob Kennedy and Bob Kennedy told Jack. The next day 
they shanghaied that Secret service man somewhere in Alaska 
somewhere instead of Washington. But Kenny got drunk, got 
drunk in Lake Como, Italy, shot his mouth off about it. 
A Secret Service ma n told me to talk to Bob. I told him, 
Bob. This was one case where Bob told J ack. They chopped 
off a Secret Service ma n instea d of Kenny . 

But a s far as Kenny O'Donnell, he wa s a greatest 
force of evil, outright lied to:the President, lied to Bob. 
But Kenny thought wha t he wa s doing wa s good for the Presi­
dent. And that's the stra nge contradiction about Kenny. 
He actua lly thought what he was doing was good for the 
PFesident--has no sense of history, has no idealism, a 
typical Boston politician: you scratch my back, and I 
scratch yours--only tougher. Sometimes you'd scratch his 
back a nd he wouldn't scra tch yours. But he thought he was 
serving the President well. But he was a force of evil. 
When I see pictures of him sitting and aiscussing Cuba, I 
shudder that this man is running for Governor [of Massa­
chusetts]. He's the last man in the world I would vote for. 
Have yousrer talked to Charlie Ba rtlett? 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

No, I haven't. 

What does he say about Kenny O'Donnell? 
It would be interesting to read. 

Why do you say you'd be frightened or why do 
you say Cuba frightened you? Now, why on 
something like that, which is foreign policy? 
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CORBIN: Well, I just can't visualize Kenny O'Donnell 
making decisions on foreign policy. I know 
a ma n s houldn 1 t judge a book by it 1 s covers, 

but did you ever look into his eyes? Like a rattlesnake, a 
rattlesnake. They feared him, they feared him round there. 
Kenny h ad a system of building a machine by payoffs; he kept 
his boys by giving them goodies. There was no loyalty or 
idea listic rapport with his boys. It was good--to pa rties, 
free airplane rides, promotions. He appealed to their b asic 
greed. You see, you don't get a man to produce for his 
country if you're going to his greed. You get the best o f 
the man when you get to his idea lism, when he wants to pro­
duce far his country. 

HACKMAN: Now, when you s ay 11his boys 1
' you mean--I 

guess that includes Maguire and Roche, or 
who do you mean? 

CORBIN: Most of the positions of government, like 
Ivan Nestigen, Bernie Boutin, [Eugene P.] 
Gene Foley, hundreds a nd hundreds and 

hundreds of people in the Defense Department, Rona ld 
Linton for one, Gene Trezak for a nother, who is now com­
pletely sold out to the Republican administra tion--a ll 
catered to greed, lust for power. Sure, I could be ac­
cused of power because I wa s close to Bob, but I nevergot 
a nything for myself. 

HACKMAN: Where is [Timothy J.] Re a rdon in a ll this 
stuff? Anywhere? 

CORBIN: Reardm is a good decent guy, .sc a red of his 
sha dow, didn't want to step on anybody's 
toes, grea t feeling of insecurity, but a 

decent guy. No power whatsoever. 

HACKMAN: What about IRa lph A.] Dungan and 
{Frederick G.] Dutton? 
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CORBIN: Fred Dutton anilRalph Dungan . Ralph Dungan 
was also a nice Irish fellow, part of the 
Ma fia. He had been around w- shington for 

quite some time. And as far as I was concerned, he was a 
member of the bureaucracy, typica l Washington bureaucracy. 
He instituted this progra m that Dan Fenn had a nd picked 
the wrong guys, not a bad fellow, wasn't a h a te guy. I 
liked Ralph Dungan. It wa s wa y over his head, the job he 
had. He'd make a good district ma nager for the A&P grocery 
chain as far a s I'm concerned, Ra lph Dungan. Now, who's 
the other fellow you want to know about? 

HACKMAN: Dutton. 

CORBIN: Fred Dutton. Fred Dutton was a mild-mannered 
gunman; he wa s a gun for hire. He kno.vs 
politics. Th= rea son I say that--I'll give 

you my reason for that. I've a lways liked Fred Dutton. 
Fred Dutton did more for the job tha t I was doing for Bob 
when he was in the State Depa rtment than a nybody else. He 
hired idealistic girls who wanted to work in the emba s-
sies, USIA [United States Information Agency] , a nd Bob 
liked him. He was a mild-mannered fellow. The rea son I 
say this--and I shouldn't be so quick in my judgment--it 
wa s tha t year that I was in Acapulco, that was the year 
right after the election tha t (Edmund G.] Brown got 
bea ten. Wha t year was tha t? 

HACKMAN: 1 66. 

CORBIN: All right. I was involved in--I better not 
go into tha t. Well, anyway, this fellow, 
this chap was a very close persona l friend of 

Governor Brown. we were talking about the Kennedy people 
sitting a round a pool at the Acapulco Towers. The fellow 
asked me what I thought about Fred Dutton. I said I liked 
him very much, he was a great guy a nd w s loycl to the Kennedys. 
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This fellow said he worked for Brown, and Brown didn't 
know until after the campa ign he paid him about a hundred 
thousand bucks. I said, "It's hard to believe." The guy 
said, "Yes, a nd Brown was shocked when he found out. 11 

HACKMAN: Tha t he paid Dutton? 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

Brown. 

HACKMAN: 

That's right. 

As a sala ry, you mean, or a s a wha tever. 

Dutton never did nothing in his life with­
out getting paid. And he compa red with a 
fellow na med Bradley who a lso worked for 

Right. Don Bra dley. 

CORBIN: Don Bradley who I know. And both got paid. 
Now, Fred Dutton's running the Bob Kennedy 
memori a l. Now, Bob liked Fred Duttm, a nd 

I'll tell you what happened to Bob after the Sena te r ace. 
Bob wanted to cha nge his image. He didn't want to be the 
ruthless politica l boss. He surrounded himself with guys 
like Dola n, Fred Dutton, people who were not the abra sive 
type like myself or others. He no longer was trying to play 
the role of the tough political boss, the nut cutter. And 
I used to h a ve arguments with Bob about that. I s a id, "If 
you ever needed these guys, you need them now, Bob, 
because when you were running J ack's campaign you were the 
nut cutter. You h a d a million guys liking you, around you. 
Now, a s the candida te, you c a nnot play tha t role. You're 
too much involved in speeches a nd schedules. You h a ven't 
got time to go into the gut fighting. You've got your-
self a bunch of creampuffs a round you. If you ever needed 
tough guys, ruthless guys, you need them now. You're going 
for the Presidency. You're not going to win it by mild­
mannered guys like Tom Johnston or guys like Fred Dutton. 

I 
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You need a bunch of sons-of-bitches around here who will 
make the deals a nd cut these basta rds' hearts out, these 
bosses. You gut them and belt them. But you're trying to 
change your image. It's going to be costly a nd expensive 
to you." But he had changed his image. He no longer 
wanted to have the image of the ruthless, driving--which 
was fine. But he should have strengthened his machine by 
aa'\li..ng tougher guys. Instead, he had mild-mannered guys 
like Fred Dutton, who couldn't elect a sheriff a s f a r as 
I'm concerned. That's my persona l opinion; it might be a 
minority opin~on. Fred Dutton•s got a h a ng-up. He's got, 
you know .... A nice fellow, I can't complain because 
when I was sitting in the Committee any time I called 
Fred Dutton, he'd go, right through, any job we wanted. 
He was very good. He didn't give a shit about the Irish 
Mafia. So I'm just s aying--you're a sking me a c a ndid 
opinion--he 1 s not tough enough. 

HACKMAN: Okay. Let me ask you 

CORBIN: You disagree with me, don't you? 

HACKMAH: I've never seen him in a political campaign. 
[Interruption] What was Robert Kennedy's 
opinion of [William R.] Bill Haddad, who a 

lot of people say is a talker and not a doer? 

CORBIN: Bill Haddad. I don't believe that Bob 
Kennedy thought enough about Bill Haddad 
to enga ge in conversation with me about him. 

He would not waste two minutes of his precious time to dis­
cuss Bill Haddad. Neither was Bill Haddad amusing enough 
for him to talk about this man in a leisure moment. There 
was other more interesting people to t a lk about than Bill 
Haddad. That's Bob's opinion of Bill Haddad. Any other 
questions? 
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HACKMAN: Yes. What about the accelerated public 
works legisla tion and the money that became 
availabJethrough that? How did tha t work and 

how did the Democratic National Committee get involved? 

CORBIN: All I know is tha t I had the authority to 
s ay 11 yes 11 a nd "no 11 in New York. A fel·low 
named Jim Cochran, who worked for Ma guire, 

had passed it out, until they sta rted playing a round New 
York and using it as a wea pon to help the old dying remnants 
of the DeSapio-Prendergast m- chine, until I went to Bob and 
showed him what the hell was going on. Steve went to Jim 
Cochran and said, "Well, any time Corbin tells you, you do 
something." And I'll say one thing about Cochran, he did it. 

HACKMAN: But did he continue to h ave control in the 
way he wanted in states other tha n New York, 
or do you know? 

CORBIN: All I c an say is, a ny time I wanted some-
thing to go to a certain sta te a t a certa in 
time, it went--which is very rare. The only 

time I'ilDuld enter into a project is when a known Kennedy 
supporter, going sack intothe sixties or prior to the sixties, 
would come to me as a Kennedy guy and t a lk to me about it. 
I'd pick up the phone and I'd c a ll Bob. I'd s ay, "So a nd 
so is up here. He's h a ving a little trouble. Should I 
help him out?" He said, "Yeah," a nd then I'd go by with 
him--never on my own would I go. 

HACKMAN: Now, you've gore through a lot of things, 
different kinds of situations, where you've 
said, 11well, I'd pick up the phone a nd I'd 

call up Bob." How much time does he have? Dees he ever 
say, you know, "Gee, I just don't h ave time. This isn't 
important enough for me to talk about?" 
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CORBIN: Bob never said that to me, never. I've 
talked to him--as a matter of fact, there is 
c= n a rticle in Esquire magazine. I d:m 't know 

if you ever read it. This guy attended a birthda y party of 
Bob's which must h a ve been '62 maybe. Well, he got a gift, 
a red telephone, a nd on it was "Hot Line: Corbin to Bob." 
This reporter wrote that one of the gifts was a hot line 
which sat on Bob's desk, a telephone. I would talk to 
Bob, s ay, a n a verage per day, oh, I would say sometimes 
three times a day, sometimes twenty times a day by telephone 
a nd see him just about every day. Now, when I say he 
talked to me, it wa sn't to me persona lly, it was the work 
that I was involved in that he talked to me about. He 
wouldn't just sta rt t a lking about the weather; it was 
mostly politics. Sometimes I would talk to him six, seven 
times a n hour, get b a ck, get ck. I t a lked to him c t 
night, on weekends. It was a continual--every d ay, every 
d ay . Rarely would a day go by. I c a n't reca ll the day 
that Bob wa s in town tha t I didn't talk to him at lea st 
once or twice. 

HACKMAN: There would h a ve been very few matters 
though that you would h ave dealt with him 
on paper? Most of it would h a ve been 

phone or personal? 

CORBIN: The on~y paper--and never anything from me 
to him--wa s from him to me. And I will 
explain toyou wha t I meant by that. He 

-would not s ay,"Dear Paul: Do this." We'd t a lk to each 
other twenty times a d a y. A letter would a rrive, some­
body. He'd say, "Dear Paul: Take c a re of this. Dear 
Paul: Look into this a nd let me know." Or he would say, 
on a lot of letters he'd write "For Paul," "To Paul Corbin," 
"For Paul," sta cks about that high, four or five, six 
hundred of those letters, "Eor Paul," "To Paul," "Paul 
do this," "No, Paul," "Yes, Pa ul," "Check into this Paul," 
"What's this a 11 about, Paul 7• 11 I'd get those in a stea dy 
stream every day. 
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I'll never forget--you read about the Chappaquiddick 
case. One of th= girls involved was Esther Newberg. I 
went to the Bob Kennedy dedication of Memorial Stadium in 
Washington. "Hi, Mr. Corbin." I said, "Your face is 
familiar. 11 11My name is Esther Newberg." "Oh, yes, I know 
you. Your mother is from Connecticut. You were a boiler­
room girl, weren't you? 1

' "That's right." "You don't know 
your ass about politics." "What are you talking about, Mr. 
Corbin?" "I set a trap and you bit." "Wha t a re you talking 
about, Mr. Corbin?" "Bob Kennedy was announcing for Presi­
dent and Mr. [Abraham A.] Ribicoff was playing cute. So I 
called the Connecticut desk and you answered. I s a id, 
'Young lady, I want you to get a memo to Dave [Hackett] to 
give to Steve Smith, and I recommend that we should run 
somebody against Mr. Ribicoff for the Senate. Ribicoff is 
either playing cute or his a ss belongs to Johnson. Let's 
throw a guy in against him. Shake the son-of-a-bitch up. 
He mighteven beat the bastard. Let's find a good Ca tholic 
to run against him.' Do you know why I said that, Miss 
Newberg? Because you were a spy for John Bailey. You 
called John Bailey and within twenty-four hours Senator 
Ribicoff came out for Bob Kennedy." "I know your secret, 
too." "Wha t secret do you know? 1

' "You don• t even re­
member, do you, Mr. Corbin? 11 I said, "No." "'61, your 
secretary went on vacation for two weeks. Everybody was 
a fraid of you. You wa lked intathe summer typewriter pool. 
'Who wants to be my secretary for two weeks. I'll t ake you.' 
I wa s your secretary." "That's right. I'll be a son-of-a ­
bitch. And you're Bailey's spy. 11 "That's right. I know 
your secret." "Wha t was my secret?" "Every morning at 
9:30 like a clock a voice would come over the phone, ~an 

I speak to Paul Corbin?' One day I made a mistake and asked 
who was calling. It wa s Bob Kennedy." I s a id, "That's 
right, but keep your godda mn mouth shut, Esther." "I want 
you to know something, Mr. Corbin. I wa sn't a spy for 
Bailey when I worked for Bob Kennedy." "You'll always be a 
spy, you're part of that machine." Tha t's Esther Newberg. 
She worked for me. She said, "I know your secret. Every 
morning at 9:30, 'Is Paul there?' 1

' 
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Nobody else then knew that he . . . 

Oh, yes, Brawley, Bailey. Bailey, he got 
his orders from me every morning. He used 
to walk in and get them. 

HACKMAN: Yes. So why is it a secret then? Why wa s 
it a secret? I me a n, why would she say it 
was a secret? How did she mean that? I 

don't understand it. 

CORBIN: I don't know. I don't know. Well, they 
knew we were close, but not to the point 
where the Attorney General calls me every 

morning. There's a difference from me calling him. 
There's a difference from me going down to him as to him 
calling me every morning, isn't it? 

HACKMAN: Yes. 

CORBIN: I didn't want anybody to know that he was 
actually c 2 lling me. I didn't mind if it 
was said, "Oh, Corbin's brownnosing. 11 

There's a ll kinds of interpretations which can be inter­
preted and passed off. But him c a lling me, I don't want 
that to be known. Do you agree? 

HACKMAN: Yes. 

CORBIN: All right. She said, "I know your secret, 
Mr. Corbin. Every morning like a clock, the 
moment I pick upthe phone I Fecognize that 

voice, 'Paul there?'" One day I made a mistake and I said, 
"Who is it?" What did he say?" "The Attorney General." 
But I set a tra p for her about Ribicoff. 
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How much did you get involved in fund­
raising during the administra tion? 

CORBIN: Never r a ised a nickel. The first thing Bob 
Kennedy told me when I got up there, "Cor­
bin, first son-of-a-bitch that offers you a 

dolla r, right to [Ma tthew H.] Mccloskey. Take him into 
Maguire. Don't you ever t ake a dime. The first son-of-a ­
bitch tha t offers you a dime, look out, Corbin, he ain't 
your buddy." Never took a dime. The moment a guy c a me in, 
Mccloskey, sent him upsta irs to talk to Mccloskey. But 
I never took a nickel~ never got involved. No sir. Bob 
said, "Never take a dime. Into the trea sury. They t a lk 
about money, that's not your b c liwick, zipp, the trea surer's 
office." 

HACKMAN: Wha t did they think of Mccloskey? What did 
Robert Kennedy think of Mccloskey. 

CORBIN: He liked Mccloskey. Let me tell you about 
Mccloskey. Mccloskey fired me one d ay, or 
he s a id he wouldn't p a y my expenses. Ba iley 

bDought me to Mccloskey. Mccloskey was going to be the 
c!ff i cial hatchetman. This wa s very botched. He said, 
"We're sending you over to the space agency." "Oh?" "Good 
yb, sixteen thousa nd five hundred dolla rs a yea r a nd you 
do nothing but sit on your butt." "Fine. Ha ve you t a lked 
to the ma n?" "What ma n?" "The ma n." "Wha t ma n a re you 
t a lking about?" I s a id, "Bob Kennedy. You'd better c a ll 
him." "Who the hell a re you to s a y Bob Kennedy's the man?" 
I said, "Ah, Mr. Mccloskey, I suggest you t a lk to the ma n." 
"You're fired!" "¥ou won't make it stick, Mr. Mccloskey. 
You c an't make it stick. Listen, I would suggest. 
It's awful emba rrassing for me to sit in this position and 
a rgue with you. We're a ll on the s a me team." "Don't give 
me this team shit you whippersnapper. " Off they go in his 
fedora. Ask John about it. zoom, in the black Cadilla c 
that Bailey got from the Democr a tic Na tional Committee, 
down to the White House to see Jack Kennedy. "Corbin? 
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Who put him up at the Committee? Ah, imagine, what a dread­
ful thing, I don't blame you, Mr. Mccloskey. Get his a ss 
out of there. But talk to Bob first. 11 The President 
called Bob, "The twins coming down to see you, Bailey and 
Mccloskey about Corbin." They come to see Bob. He says, 
"God, it's terrible. Corbin up at the Committee? Disaster! 
I suppose Jack put him there." "Well, I know. I don't 
trust him, can't stand that son7of-a-bitch Corbin. J ack 
likes him." "Jack said you do." In the meantime Bailey's 
ready to kick him, Mccloskey. "What's the m tter?" "Don't 
you see wha t they're doing to us?" They come b ack, "Hey 
Corbin! Come in my office,." "Corbin, you' re wired" "Yes." 
"Please, I've got a problem. They promised me the ambas­
sadorship to Ireland and Kenny is stalling me." Kenny was 
stalling him. He's selling it to some guy. "Please help me." 
"Ah, forget about this other little thing. That wa s a little 
game tha t Bailey and I were playing. Why, we like you. Will 
you talk to Bob? I've got to have that ambassadorship." 
All in the three hours, the flip. I rung up Bcb, "Bob, 
you'll die laughing." He s a id, "Wha t do you think?" I 
said, "I'm for giving it to the old guy, shit!" "I like 
him, Corbin. They're trying to sink him." I s a id, "Who? 
Kenny?" They're trying to sink Mccloskey by selling the 
fucking de a l. You know, some Irish guy gives a hundred 
thousand. He figures, I mean, he's got all he can out of 
Mccloskey. "So what do I do?" "Call back a nd tell him 
it's his." I go back, "Mccloskey, it's yours." "Are you 
sure?" "It's yours." Of course, his goddamn nomination 
wa s held up, you know. Every day he would come in a nd s ay, 
"Corbin." I s a id, "Stop worrying, will you, Mccloskey! 
It's yours." But I laughed. The guy fired me in the 
morning and came b ack, he s a id, "You're wired!" I said, 
"That's right." Son-of-a -bitch! I like the old man-­
crooked a s a corkscrew. Oh, wha t a crook. He wa s a 
grea t buddy of [Robert G.] Bobby Baker. 

HACKMAN: Next question. 
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Oh, Bobby Baker? 

Yes. Did you talk to him about it before 
the a ss ssina tion? 

Talk to who? 

To Robert Kenn e.dy about it before John 
Kennedy's a ss ssina tion. 

The Bobby Baker c a se? 

Yes. 

I can recall one time mentioning that I 
heard that they we~e a fter Bobby Baker. He 
said to me, "What do you think of Bobby 

Baker?" 
life. 

I s a id, "Bob, I've only spoken to him once in my 
I was on the tenth floor of the Biltmore Hotel at 

the Convention. I had a room on the s a me floor which the 
Johnson people had. When Johnson got bea t for the Presi­
dency, Bobby Baker was wa lking down from one elevator as I 
wa lked towards his room which is right across mine. He wa s 
crying." I said, "He must have a grea t sense of loya lty 
towa rd LBJ to shed tears. The guy can't be a ll b ad." Bob 
s a id, "That's right." That's the only conversation I ever 
h a d with Bob Kennedy about Bobby Baker a nd the only time 
I ever really sp:>ke about Baker. 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

When you said, when you told Robert Kennedy, 
"I heard 'they' a re after" who did you mean 
by 'they'? Wha t had you heard at that point? 

Wh t about 11 they 11 ? 

Yes, who was "they'~ ? 
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CORBIN: We didn't . . . {Interruption] 

HACKMAN: Wha t about the Vice-Presidency in '64? 
You t a lked a little bit about New Hampshire, 
but what on then a fter tha t? Ca n you re­

member tha t convers a tion up to the time Johnson t ells him 
he's not going to be Vice President? Did he ever t a lk 
about how he would get a long with Johnson as Vice Presi­
dent if he was n a med, you know, how it might work? 

CORBIN: I would like to s a y this to you, and I'm 
going to close the subject about New Ha mp­
shire a nd the Vice-Pnesidency. When J a ck 

Kennedy was a ss a ssina ted, Bob Kennedy just didn ' t accept, 
say to himself, "Well, J a ck is de a d. My next step is 
this." Bob Kennedy wa s a di fferent ma n when his brother wa s 
shot. He had emotional pr.oblems . He felt tha t they 
were robbed--I felt t h a t way. Rea lly--I'm going to s a y this 
bec ause it won't be rea d for fifty yea rs or so--we weren't 
ourselves, our judgment wa s not the best. We just were in 
a state of shock for a grea t length of period. As f a r a s 
I ' m concerned, Bob Kennedy never got out of a state o f 
shock, never got out of it. Tha t's just my opinion, 
judgi ng a s I knew the ma n. Bob Kennedyv..as rea lly--something 
was taken away, a nd something was c dded to the ma n. He 
wa s never the s a me, never the s a me. I c a n rec a ll the 
1964--when he wa s elected, we had a celebra tion a t Del­
monico' s Hotel a nd from there we went to La Pa villon. I 
went, I believe Cha rlie Bartlett, a nd we went to La -
Pc villon for ourselves. Bob wa s there a nd Eunice [Kennedy 
Shriver ] , Jean, Pa t [Kennedy Lawford], [K. LeMoyne] Lem 
Billings and Arthur Schlesinger, a nd I believe ma ybe Bill 
vanden Heuvel, I'm not s u re, a nd Bob wa s there. I wa lked 
i n a nd I bumped into Bob and I looked a t his f ace. He s a id, 
"Do you c a re for a gla ss of cha mpc gne, P2ul ? 11 I s a id, 
"No, I was rea lly looking for a v anilla ice crea m soda , a 
dish of ice crea m, a nd I think I'm going to bed." 
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He s a id, "Let's wa lk outside." We go on outside a nd he did 
this, he said, "Thanks." I s a id, "You must be goofy tha nking 
me. I'm not a w rd heeler that you're tha nking. I'm not 
Bill Luddy." He s ays, "Sna p out of it." He s a ys, "What 
are we doing in New York politics? Wha t are you going to 
do in New York? " I s a id, '"I don't know. 11 Bob s a ys, "Are 
y ou thinking the s ame thing I'm thinking?" "Yes." "It 
should h ave been J ack's night." Tears c a me out of his eyes. 
"We should be celebra tiIB for Jack a nd everybody ' s hol­
lering LBJ. Wha t a m I doing in New York~ a s a Sena tor?" 
"Good idea , wa sn't it?" 11 I don't know." I s a id, "Where 
are you going? " "I've got to sha g myself over to some 
Fulton fish ma rket. I promised somebody I'd be there the 
next morning." "You've got to keep tha t new image, Bob." 
He s a id, "I want to t a lk to you when we get b ack to 
Washington. I ' ll t a lk to you a g a in. See you l a ter." But 
he a sked me wha t wa s he doing in New York--"Wha t a re you 
and I doing in New York" were his exact words, and "This 
should have been J ack's. It should h a ve been Jack's night 
and here we i. a re celebra ting LBJ." He wa s in a d a ze, a 
complete d a ze. 

I can rec a ll something a t Delmonico's 
interesting. Now, people didn't know me. 
Bernie Ruggieri? 

which is very 
Do you know 

HACKMAN: 

CORBIN: 

HACKMAN: 

I'm sorry. 

Did you ever hea r of a ma n c a lled Bernie 
Ruggieri? 

I don't know. No, not tha t I know of, I 
don't know. 

CORBIN: well, people didn't know me. He went into 
Delmonico's a nd he wa s using certa in Ita lia ns 
in the c ampa ign of '64, New York leaders, 

typical. And every time you'd pick up the p a per, this guy 
wa s an a ide, this guy wa s a bosom pal a nd so on. Those 
who were, knew tha t they were just tools, instruments t o 
use in the c ampaign. But the c a mpa ign is like a c a rniva l 
when the show wa s over--nothing left but s awdust. Here we 
a re sitting a t Delmonico's. I h ad my wife with me tha t 
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time and I h a d some friends who I'd brought in ... 
[Inaudible] And I knew that I h ad my t able assignment 
written so I figured it would be next to Bob's. It 
wouldn't be far so we could le a n over a nd whisper. And 
I look over and see three of these henchmen, New York 
guys in tuxedos sitting at Bob's table. One of them 
was escorting Ma ria Cooper, Gary Cooper's daught~r, who 
I'd been out one night with and knew her n ame. I went up 
tothe guy. "Sit down, Corbin." I says, "No. This is the 
Senator's table." "What the hell. He ain't going to do 
anything to_you. 11 "No, 11 I said, 11 I 1 ll sit over here." 
And they're drinking champagne. The fellow says, "He's 
very close to the Attorney General. Bosom pals. I rea d 
it in the paper." I said, "I'll tell you wha t I'll do. 
[Inaudible] . breakfa st a nd ' he whispers about New 
York, "After we get through, he doesn't l a st •.. 
[Inaudible] •.. see a different Bob . . . [Inaudible] 
Bob walks in, they're cheering Bob. I can see his face. 
He's thinking about Jack, not about this operation. "Get 
rid of that--off my table. ·01 This guy 1 s sitting there in 
his table, see. That's Bob. In spite of all his tears, he 
spots his table, "Get rid of that--off my table." "Bernie, 
out." "Corbin, what are you talking ... " "Out, Bernie." 
I wa s in hiding in New York--do you understand--during the 
c ampaign. He was with Bob every d ay. I said, "Move!" 
What do you think the guy did? He moved. Now, if the 
situation had been reversed, I'd h ave said, "Fuck you, 
Corbin"--a difference in men. He'd still be bounced. Maybe 
the judgment was right, probably was because he would h ave 
been bounced. Maybe his judgment was right. "Move, 
Bernie." You know, he's a ll shaking hands and smiling, 
"Get rid of that--off my t able, Corbin." He h a d this guy 
up to here, you know. I l aughed to do tha t one. That's 
Bob. so how do you describe the guy? See, he's basically, 
in spite of everything, a political animal too. "Get rid 
of that .... " That's exactly what he s a id, "Get rid 
of that .... 11 Now, if you told that to the Times they'd 
say he's anti-Ita lian. But he wasn't. They would say 
that. 
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